






MEMC is global leader in the manufacture and sale ofwafers and related products to the semiconductor

and solar industries Wafers are literally the foundation upon which virtually all of the worlds semiconduc

tors and solar cells are built Those semiconductors and solar cells in turn are the building blocks for the

$1 trillion electronics market cell phones computers PDAs CD/DVD players satellite and automotive

electronics etc and the $20 billion solar celL/module market rooftop solar farms consumer lighting

etc MEMC has been pioneer in the design and development ofwafer technologies since 1959 and

operates facilities in the Europe and Asia Pacific MEMCs common stock is listed on the New York

Stock Exchange under the symbol WFR and is included in the SP 500 Index

Crossed the $2 billion mark in total revenue for the first time and achieved the billion milestone

in sales to the solar market

Increased
gross

and operating profit dollars while maintaining associated margin levels
greater

than

50% and 42% respectively

Continued to generate strong cash flows with operating and free cash flow operating cash flow minus

capital expenditures of 32% and 17% of sales respectively

Increased polysilicon capacity to 8000 metnc tons per year and 300 millimeter wafer
capacity to approximately

450000 wafers per month and

Grew cash and investment balances1 to over $1 billion while repurchasing $321 million worth of shares

under our stock repurchase program and maintaining virtually no debt

iii millions exceptper sha amounts

YearendedDecembe 31 2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003 CAGR
Net Sales $2004 $1921 $1540 $1107 $1028 $781 21%
Gross Margin 1004 1000 689 366 369 232 34%

Operating Income 853 849 558 257 260 142 43%
Net Income GAAP 387 826 369 249 226 116 27%
Net Income non-GAAP

excluding warrants 743 753 456 214 165 130 42%
EPSGAAP 169 356 161 110 102 053 26%
EPS non-GAAP excluding warrants 25 25 99 95 74 63 39%
Cash Flows from

Operating Activities 640 917 527 321 258 98 45%

FreeCashFlow 3373 6408 3794 1583 1122 313 61%
Net Cash Per Share3 17 58 40 44 30 00

ReturnonAssets4 26% 32% 31% 20% 19% 20%

_l Cash and investments in this annual
report efers

to cash cash equivalents andshort and longterm investments

Cashfiowsfrom operating activities minus capital expenditui as

Cash cash equivalents and investments minus debt per share

Non-GAAP net income dividedby average ofbeginning andending totalassets excluding wariant benflt/impact

Please see nonGAAP reconciliation table
onpage 56

CompoundAnnual Gi owth Rate CAGR calculated
using

2003-2008 data shown

Oii the cover semiconductor wafer with its distinctive notch is in this
representation ofMEMCs

long semiconductor wafer history and its entry into and growth in the burgeoning solar market



SEMCONDUCTOR

I11B Wafer Markçt

Steady Long-Term Growth

CAGR 10% Since 77

Wafers are the foundation upon which semiconductors are built These semiconductors in turn

power the $1 trillion electronics market Because of the advancements in technology and the

worldwide proliferation of electronic devices over the last 30
years

the semiconductor wafer

industry has shipped on average approximately 10% more units every year growing in tandem

with semiconductor device shipments These wafers are adding increasing value to device makers

and can help them reduce their costs while also allowing them to improve the devices they

build by holding more memory performing faster or having longer battery life In order to

enable these advancements industry leaders need to have asset-efficient strategies to

generate
the cash to invest in next-generation technologies On this score in recent years

MEMC has been unmatched Due to these industry dynamics over the years the number

of suppliers in the industry has been reduced from dozens before 1990 to about six today

SOLAR

$8B Wafer Market

Fast Growth

CAGR 40% Since 99

Similar to semiconductor applications silicon wafers are also the foundation for most solar

cells These solar cells are grouped together to form solar modules According to the National

Renewable Energy Laboratory the amount of solar energy hitting the earth in less than one day

is greater than the
energy represented by all of the crude oil remaining in the ground Yet less

than 1% of the energy we use comes from this clean renewable
energy source because the cost

is not always competitive
with the cost of

buying
from the local power utility Enter MEMC

Our cost-efficient vertically integrated position
enables us to offer customers pricing road

maps that could allow them to achieve
grid parity

without government subsidies In 2008

which was only our second year selling solar wafers our sales of wafers and related products

to this industry exceeded $1 billion
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IF MEMC strives to deliver an industry-leading return on our assets and to maximize our

return on each dollar spent In 2008 MEMC was once again successftul posting non

GAAP return on assets of over 25% Combined with
strong working capital management

this yielded high operating cash flow which is essential for self-funding business model

in an asset-intensive industry MEMCs asset efficiency has allowed us in recent years to

invest an average
of less than 15% of sales into capex thereby yielding high levels of free

cash flow This cash flow generation in turn has allowed us to build cash and invest

ment balance of more than $1.4 billion or the
equivalent of more than $6 for each MEMC

share This excess cash allows us to continue our practice of returning value to shareholders

in the form of share
repurchases as well as positions us well to capitalize on strategic

acquisitions or other opportunities in the future should they present themselves

The wafer
industry is very capital intensive particularly with regard to semiconductor

wafers As wafers become more advanced in size and
specification more customized for

each customer and begin to utilize advanced materials there are fewer competitors that

are capable of competing in this asset-intensive and
technologically advanced business

For each new diameter that is introduced there is significant amount of capital invest

ment required For each new design node and for the
development and manufacturing of

new materials
products there is more investment required and to be most efficient and

be vertically integrated in making ultra-pure polysilicon there is even more investment

required This environment favors MEMC which has
consistently generated cash flows

and profits in spite of these required investments It has been too much however for

many competitors As result the number of wafer suppliers in the industry has been

reduced from dozens
prior to 1990 to about ten entering this decade and to six today

We
expect

this trend to continue
MEMC 2008 Annual Report



The self-funding business model discussed on the
previous page

allows MEMC to

continue to invest and remain at the forefront of technology innovation with advanced

manufacturing capabilities and suite of
process technologies including alternate mate

rials These new materials solutions like MEMCs patented PerfectSilicon and Silicon

on Insulator SOT can enable
products or devices that are capable of holding more

memory perform faster generate less heat or have longer battery life

In addition to competing on the basis of
product quality consistency price and customer

service MEMC also
competes on the basis of technical innovation product range

and

availability MEMCs product portfolio is currently the broadest in the companys history

Today we offer wafer solutions to the semiconductor industry in various diameters

ranging from 100mm to 00mm types polished epitaxial test-monitor engineered

for specific design nodes as small as 32 nanometers and shrinking crystal improvements

oxygen control defect-free substrate annealing etc wafering improvements

nanotopography 1mm-edge exclusion and materials improvements SOT strained

silicon strained SOT In 2007 MEMC broadened its product portfolio to include

wafers for the solar industry This diversification has added growth and should flarther

reduce volatility in our revenue and profit base

MEMC 2008 Annual Report



DEMONSTRATE PERFORMANCE
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REVENUE TOPS $2 BILLION

In 2008 MEMC continued to grow revenue despite difficult market

environment with total revenue crossing the $2 billion mark for the first

time Helping to fuel this growth were MEMCs sales to the solar market

which crossed the $1 billion mark in 2008 Over the last six years
MEMCs

sales have grown at compound growth rate of over 20%
per year

43% CAGR
$875

$350

$175
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in millions

$700
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OPERATING PROFIT CONTINUES TO EXPAND

With revenue continuing to grow in 2008 and MEMC leveraging operating

expenses operating profit continued to grow Over the last six years operating

profits have grown at compound growth rate of 43% per year more than

double the rate of revenue growth

FREE CASH FLOW REMAINS STRONG AT 17% OF SALES

Our ability to run strongly profitable business and
generate positive

cash flow

even after adequately spending on the RD and capital projects that will fuel

our future growth is significant advantage that differentiates MEMC from

many of our competitors
In 2008 MEMC generated operating cash flow of

over $640 million and free cash flow which is operating cash flow minus capital

expenditures of over $335 million That is equal to approximately 17% of sales

CASH AND INVESTMENTS GREW TO OVER $1.4 BILLION

MEMCs balance sheet is
very strong

with cash and investments growing to over

$1.4 billion and the company maintaining virtually no debt Our cash and

investments net of debt are equal to over $6 for
every

MEMC share Our

net cash position has continued to strengthen despite the RD and capital

spending mentioned above as well as an additional $400 million
spent to return

value to shareholders in the form of stock repurchases over the last two years
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Net cash is
equal to cash cash

equivalents
and investments minus debt

MEMC 2008 Annual Report





LETTER TO SHAREHOLDERS

fts fundamenta MEMC has shown consistent growth through

varying market conditmns

Dear Shareholders

On behalf of our Board of Directors and our 4600 employees

thank you for
your

investment in MEMC

As many of
you know in addition to his duties as an MEMC

Board member three months
ago

Marshall Turner became frill-

time employee of MEMC assuming the position of Interim CEO

As we look back over our respective careers we have each been

involved with many companies in many leadership and
advisory

capacities and we can both
say

that we are truly proud to be

associated with MEMC As we navigate through this difficult

global economic period there are few companies in our opinion

that are better positioned to weather the current environment

and
potentially emerge stronger company on the other side

Earlier in this
report we noted few of the highlights from

2008 which included continued growth in revenue and profits

continued cash generation and continued strengthening of our

balance sheet As we enter 2009 the overall economy continues

to suffer impacting all industries to differing degrees and MEMC
is not immune to this We entered this downturn however as well-

positioned company with lean operation good cost structure

self-funding business model strong technology base and
very

strong
balance sheet Our top priority during Marshalls short

tenure has been to ensure the continued integrity and discipline

of this
strong

financial and market position and to keep us moving

swiftly in the right direction MEMCs business model focused

on the innovation and asset-efficient cost structure that are the

key strengths of the company is the
right one for these times

MEMC has had keen focus on efficiency maximization and on

the return from each dollar
spent on capital This has produced the

industry-leading profitability and cash flow generation that we

have enjoyed over the last six
years Now as we enter 2009 even

in this uncertain environment our teams are focused on continued

cost yield and efficiency improvements We will continue to increase

spending in RD and our RD and
manufacturing teams will

continue to work together to develop the next-generation products

that will drive our future growth and focus on our own internal

manufacturing processes
that will drive further efficiencies

While it helps to be well positioned to be truly successful

and fully capitalize on that
positioning requires strong leadership

In early 2009 MEMCs Board of Directors
appointed Ahmad

Chatila to be MEMCs new Chief Executive Officer Ahmad is

highly regarded semiconductor
industry veteran with the skills

knowledge and expertise to lead MEMC into its next era of growth

As fellow MEMC shareholders we could not be more pleased

with this selection

MEMC is SO-year old
technology company competing in

business that rewards technical excellence close connection to

customers and continual product cost reduction While it is clear

that we must contend with difficult near-term business environ

ment we believe that MEMC has the right leadership the right

direction and the right strengths to meet the
challenges and

opportunities of 2009 and beyond

Marshall Turner

Interim Chief Executive Officer

John Marren

Chairman of the Board
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FUNDAMLN1AI QULST ONS
\VJTf SEN1O MAN VEN

As the newly ppointed CEO of MEWC

what are your tial thougUs regardmg Re

cow pany positmn the marketplace and

aiychangesyouiiigh exp Ct omake7

MEMC is already strong company with many world-class attributes

such as tremendous RD effort One of my goals is to use my perspective

from 18
years

of being an MEMC customer to leverage these attributes

and the companys position in the industry to make MEMC even stronger

becoming the
go-to supplier for wafer solutions whether it be todays

leading-edge products or working together with our teams to develop

customized solutions to advance our customers future
technologies T.f we

leverage our market
positioning

and rich intellectual
property portfolio to

further strengthen our customer relationships in both semiconductor and

solar believe we can achieve even greater things in the future want to

ensure that we capitalize on MEMCs tremendous
strengths to bring even

greater value to our customers and shareholders

MEMC cv rently has apo oxmately

billion cash and virtually no debt

What do you lai to dow Ii all of that cash

KEN HANNAH

Senior Vice President end Chief Ernancial Officer

At MEMC we are proud of our business model and our cash generating

abilities While we are mindful of the current economic environment we

remain focused on finding ways to return value to shareholders Since our

share repurchase plan was implemented in mid 2007 we have repurchased

over $430 million worth of shares and in mid 2008 our Board of Directors

authorized doubling of the plan to $1 billion

Outside of the
repurchase plan as always we remain positioned to take

advantage of acquisition opportunities
that may present themselves in this

market whether they take the form of assets factory or business line or

another company Our cash
position and self-funding business model give

us great flexibility

Whf MEMC is wafer company you

lave also Id some of your polys icon

raw matenal to the solar market on spot

basis How are you viewutg the spot

varket today

We are not focused on selling polysilicon on the
spot

market MEMC was

the first merchant manufacturer of wafers 50
years ago and wafers are still

our focus As we are manufacturing wafers for use in semiconductor and

solar
applications we may have more polysilicon raw material than we require

If we do we can sell that
poly opportunistically on the spot market Our sales

to this market have dropped over the past year with spot sales dropping to

10o of company sales
by

the fourth
quarter of 2008 Although it is nice to

have that flexibility we continue to deemphasize those sales

AHMAO CHATILA

President and Chief Executive Officer

JOHN KAUFFMANN

Senisr Vice President Sales Marketing
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FUNDMENTAL QU
WiTH SN1OR

ESTIONS
MANAGE \1ENI

What uakes the soIa market

so attracttve7

The solar market gives us another outlet for our products and is really

significant new growth engine for the company MEMC had been making

wafers for the semiconductor industry for nearly 50
years so to extend into

the adjacent market of solar wafers was fairly easy transition especially given

that we are one of the few worldwide producers of the raw polysilicon

Having the ability to sell into the areas of strength is great asset and has

helped enable MEMC to perform much better financially than our tradi

tional semiconductor wafer competitors

From market perspective solar still represents less than 1% of the worlds

energy supply so the market opportunity going forward remains significant

After all energy from the sun is free as long as you can harness it effectively

As we continue to enable our partners to offer increasingly competitive

and efficient
products it should enable us to build even stronger customer

relationships
and

garner larger portion of this new and growing market

What are you doing to maintaho you

compe0ttve edge

SHAKER SADASIVAM

Senior Vice President Research Development

From its earliest days MEMC has maintained an RD-centric

philosophy and culture of innovation Having 50
years

of science and

technology behind you is significant benefit We use our RD to develop

next-generation products that will drive our future growth including products

like Silicon on Insulator We are also developing further improvements to

todays products that allow our customers to achieve
greater

efficiencies and

performance in time where that is critical Our enhanced wafer products

such as our patented MDZ and defect-free Perfect Silicon wafers are

designed to improve customer yields and save the customer money some

thing that is certainly top-of-mind in this environment MEMC also utilizes

RD to develop improvements to our own internal manufacturing process

that will drive further efficiencies in our own factories These optimizing

strategies are not only honing our semiconductor operations but they are

also
being extended into solar where we have already achieved significant

technical advancements as we drive for the long-term efficiencies in solar

silicon that customers have come to expect from MEMC

JOHN KAUFFMANN

Senior Vice President Sales Marketing

MEMC 2008 Annual Report





FIVE YEAR SELECTED FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

The following data has been derived from our annual consolidated financial statements including the consolidated balance sheets

and the related consolidated statements of income cash flows and stockholders equity and the notes thereto The information below

should be read in conjunction with our consolidated financial statements and notes thereto including Note related to significant

accounting policies

in millions except per share and employment data 20081 2007 2006 2005 2004

Statement of Income Data

Net sales $2004.5 $1921.8 $1540.6 $1107.4 $1028.0

Gross profit 1004.8 1000.5 689.0 366.5 369.4

Marketing and administration2 110.8 111.3 94.9 76.3 71.9

Research and development 40.8 39.3 35.8 33.2 38.0

Operating income 853.2 849.9 558.3 257.0 260.5

Non-operating income expense3 268.2 261.9 32.2 4.6 62.0

Net income4 387.4 826.2 369.3 249.4 226.2

Basic income per share 1.71 3.66 1.66 1.17 1.09

Diluted income per share 1.69 3.56 1.61 1.10 1.02

Balance Sheet Data

Cash cash equivalents and investments5 1421.4 1329.1 588.2 153.9 92.6

Working capital 981.6 1145.3 641.7 211.4 155.0

Total assets 2936.7 2887.2 1765.5 1148.1 1028.2

Long-term debt

including current portion of long-term debt 32.2 30.9 34.4 39.9 138.7

Stockholders equity 2082.0 2035.0 1166.9 711.3 442.9

Other Data

Capital expenditures 303.2 276.4 148.4 162.7 145.8

Employees 4900 5400 5500 5400 5500

Includes additional bad debt expense of $4.5 million recorded in the fourth quarter of2008 See Note 16 to the financial statements

EffectiveJanuary 12006 we adopted the fair value recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based

Payment Stock-based compensation expense recorded to marketing and administration expense was $19.4 million $25.1 million and $13.1 million in 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively Amounts recorded to marketing and administration expense during 2005 and prior years were less than $4 million per year

loss of $292.5 million and gains of $220.8 million and $18.9 million were recorded to non-operating income in 20082007 and 2006 respectively due to the

mark to market adjustment related to warrant received from customer

During 2005 we reversed $67.1 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets This represented the reversal of all remaining valuation allowances

on deferred tax assets During 2004 we reversed $137.4 million of valuation allowances related to deferred tax assets

Includes $284.7 million and $12.7 million of long-term investments as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

OVERVIEW
We are vertically integrated global leader in the manufacture

and sale of wafers Our customers include semiconductor device

and solar cell manufacturers We provide wafers in sizes ranging

from 100 millimeters inch to 300 millimeters 12 inch for

semiconductor applications
and 156 millimeter wafers for solar

applications Depending on market conditions we also sell inter

mediate products such as polysilicon silane gas ingots and scrap

wafers to semiconductor device and equipment makers solar

cell and module manufacturers flat panel
and other industries

Beginning in the third quarter of 2008 and accelerating in the

2008 fourth quarter
the

uncertainty in macroeconomic condi

tions weakened demand for electronics and subsequently wafers

for semiconductor applications This was exacerbated by our cus

tomers inventory reduction efforts This resulted in reductions

in our volumes and
pricing pressure on nearly all semiconductor

application wafer diameters The reduction in semiconductor

demand led to additional polysilicon and
ingots making their way

to the solar industry resulting in downward
pricing pressure

for

solar applications Overall we saw decline in polysilicon revenues

as percent
of total revenue in 2008 due to lower volumes as well

as sequential decline in pricing in the fourth quarter of 2008

versus the third quarter of 2008

Overall our 2008 sales increased 4% compared to 2007 Gross

margins and operating margins remained healthy in 2008 at 50%

and 43% respectively We continued to generate solid levels of cash

from operations and free cash operating cash less capital expendi

tures with minimal debt As of December 31 2008 we held over

$1.4 billion of cash cash equivalents and investments While we

believe this positive cash performance positions us well in light of

the current illiquidity in the financial markets the current credit

markets has also resulted in some of our investments experiencing

other than temporary deteriorations in value

End market weakness and iow order visibility across both semi

conductor and solar applications has continued into the 2009 first

quarter Reduced consumer spending limited access to credit and

other effects of the macroeconomic environment weigh on both

semiconductor and solar markets All of this combined with above-

normal inventory levels at semiconductor customers is resulting

in
yet

another significant sequential reduction in semiconductor

wafer demand in the first
quarter

of 2009 Short term oversupply

of polysilicon continues to contribute to pricing pressure on solar

products During February 2009 we amended two of our long-term

solar wafer
agreements

The
aggregate revenues under the agreements

for sales in 2009 and aggregate revenues for sales over the remaining

term of the contracts remain unchanged but volume increases and

price reductions for 2009 have been effectuated There were no

changes to the requirements for security deposits or letters of

credit other than to extend the time to comply fully with the

2009 letter of credit
requirement

for one of the agreements

We expect some underutilization of our semiconductor-related

property plant and equipment will continue at least through the

first
quarter

and perhaps longer in 2009 The lower than normal

capacity
utilization levels will negatively impact our gross margin

percentage
because of the need to period expense portion of our

fixed costs at these levels We anticipate our polysilicon facilities

will continue to operate
within normal

range
of production capacity

in the near term During this economic downturn we continue to

evaluate our manufacturing capabilities to identifr opportunities

that could allow us to reduce our overall manufacturing costs

which could entail reductions or shifting of our plant capacity and

reductions in our workforce as considered
necessary

in the future

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS
Net Sales

Dollars in millons 2008 2007 2006

Net sales $2004.5 $1921.8 $1540.6

Percentage change 4% 25% 39%

Our net sales increased by 4% to $2004.5 million in 2008 from

$1921.8 million in 2007 This increase was driven by increases

in product volumes totaling $108.7 million Volumes for both

156 millimeter and 300 millimeter wafer
shipments were up but

were offset by decreases in volumes of all other products includ

ing polysilicon During 2008 sales for solar applications reached

$1 billion The overall increase in net sales was negatively impacted

by pricing decreases of $49.5 million driven by price decreases

for semiconductor wafers which were only partially offset by

price increases for 156 millimeter wafers and intermediate prod

ucts such as polysilicon silane gas ingots and scrap wafers Our

2008 overall wafer average selling prices were approximately

43% lower than the
average selling prices for 2007 This was due

to change in product mix primarily attributable to the increase

in 156 millimeter wafer shipments in 2008 which have lower

average selling price per wafer as well as price decreases for nearly

all diameters of semiconductor wafers Sales of our excess poly

silicon raw material amounted to approximately 19% and 22%

of total sales in 2008 and 2007 respectively This
percentage
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

is anticipated to continue to decline over time as our wafer sales

grow at faster rate Polysilicon selling prices
for the

year were

still approximately 15% higher than the
average polysilicon sell

ing prices
for 2007 We

expect
short term semiconductor demand

to be relatively soft and short-term
pricing

for solar applications

including intermediate products to decline

Our net sales increased by 25% to $1921.8 million in 2007

from $1540.6 million in 2006 Increases in volume generated

an increase in sales which was primarily attributable to the

introduction of 156 millimeter wafers in 2007 and increases

in 300 millimeter wafer shipments The remaining increase in

our sales was due to increases in prices which were primarily

attributable to then existing wafer products and intermediate

products Sales of our excess polysilicon raw material amounted

to approximately 22% and slightly less than 19% of total sales

in 2007 and 2006 respectively With the inclusion of prices for

156 millimeter wafers in the calculation of 2007
average selling

prices wafer
average selling prices declined approximately 41%

in 2007 compared to 2006

We
operate

in all the major semiconductor and solar-producing

regions of the world with approximately 76% of our 2008 net sales

to customers located outside the United States Net sales by geo

graphic region for each of the last three
years were as follows

Net Sales by Geographic Area

Dollars in millions

2008 2007

Gross Profit

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Cost of goods sold 999.7 921.3 851.6

Gross profit 1004.8 1000.5 689.0

Gross margin percentage
50% 52% 45%

The improvement in
gross profit dollars for 2008 of $4.3 million

to $1004.8 million was primarily due to improved volume and mix

of 156 millimeter wafers and 300 millimeter wafers partially off

set by pricing declines as described above The decrease in
gross

margin percentage
is primarily the result of overall price declines

across most diameters and decreases in polysilicon and intermedi

ate product volumes as well as the impact of abnormal costs of

approximately $16 million in 2008 due to an adverse annual long-

term purchase obligation and unallocated fixed overhead costs

We
expect

short-term pricing in solar applications including

intermediate products to decline

Our
gross profit was $1000.5 million in 2007 compared to $689.0

million in 2006 and increased as percentage
of sales to 52% from

45% The increase in
gross margin percentage was primarily the

result of an improved mix of 156 millimeter wafers 300 millimeter

wafers and polysilicon sales as well as higher average prices on then

existing wafer products and polysilicon sales throughout the
year

2006

Percent of Change

U.S 6%

Europe 28%
Asia Pacific 12%

Total 4%

Percent of Change

U.S 11%
Europe 28%

Asia Pacific 47%

Total 25%

Percent of Change

U.S 52%

Europe 18%

Asia Pacific 39%

Total 39%
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF

FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Marketing and Administration

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Marketing and administration $110.8 $111.3 $94.9

As percentage
of net sales 6% 6% 6%

The decrease in marketing and administration expenses
in 2008

versus the prior year was primarily due to decrease in stock com

pensation expense
of $5.7 million driven by the forfeiture of stock

options
related to the resignation of our former Chief Executive

Officer of $15.5 million slightly offset by the adjustment of esti

mated forfeiture rates and new award grants The change was also

due to an additional $5.7 million recorded to our allowance for

doubtful accounts compared to the prior year
and net favorable

legal
settlements of $4.3 million offset by one-time severance

expense
of $3.2 million

Marketing and administration expenses were $111.3 million

in 2007 compared to $94.9 million in 2006 As percentage

of net sales marketing and administration expenses
remained

consistent with 2006 at 6% In aggregate dollar amounts mar

keting and administration fees increased due to increased stock

compensation expense
of $12.0 million related to new option

grants as well as higher professional
fees and increased freight

on customer shipments

Research and Development

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Research and development $40.8 $39.3 $35.8

As percentage
of net sales 2% 2% 2%

RD
expenses

consisted mainly of product
and

process
devel

opment efforts to increase our capability in the areas of flatness

particles and crystal defectivity
RD expenditures in 2008

were consistent with the prior year Our research and develop

ment
expenses

increased to $39.3 million in 2007 compared to

$35.8 million in 2006 mainly due to increased raw material and

labor costs on next generation products and higher patent-related

professional fees

Non-Operating Income Expense

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Interest expense 1.8 1.4 2.4

Interest income 46.4 45.0 14.6

Decline increase in

fair value of warrant $292.5 220.8 18.9

Other net 20.3 2.5 1.1

Interest income mainly relates to returns on cash cash

equivalents and investments Interest income was higher in

2008 compared to 2007 due to higher average cash cash equiva

lent and investment balances throughout
the

year partially offset

by decline in interest rates Our interest income of $45.0 mil

lion in 2007 was higher compared to $14.6 million in 2006 due

to increased returns on higher
cash and investment balances

Decline increase in fair value of warrant represents the

mark-to-market adjustment
for warrant received from Suntech

Power Holdings Suntech We recorded decline in the estimated

fair value of the warrant of $292.5 million in 2008 compared to

increases of $220.8 million in 2007 and $18.9 million in 2006

The change in the estimated fair value of the warrant is mainly

driven by the change in the price of Suntechs ordinary shares

which had price per
share of $11.70 $82.32 and $34.01 at

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Other net expense in 2008 included $14.5 million of other

than temporary impairments on our investments

Income Taxes

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Income tax expense $195.4 $282.2 $214.8

Income tax rate as of

income before income taxes 33% 25% 36%
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MANAGEMENTS DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF
FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

In 2008 we recorded income tax expense
of $195.4 million

representing 33% of income before income taxes and minority

interests The effective rate was 8.0
percentage points higher in

2008 compared to 2007 as result of the non-taxable loss and

income for the mark-to-market adjustment associated with the

Suntech warrant for 2008 and 2007 respectively This increase

in the effective rate was partially offset by the decrease to the

reserve for uncertain tax positions of $44.0 million including

related interest reducing income tax expense by $29.5 million

and increasing income taxes payable by $14.5 million due to

the closure of the Internal Revenue Service examination in the

United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit
years as well as earn

ings generated by foreign subsidiaries whose earnings are being

permanently reinvested abroad and taxed at lower rates Certain

of our Asian subsidiaries have been
granted concessionary

tax rate of between 0% and 10% on all
qualifying income for

five
year period based on investments in certain machinery

and equipment and other development and expansion activities

resulting in tax benefit for 2008 of approximately $37.0 million

Under the awards the income tax rate for qualifying income

will be taxed at an incentive tax rate lower than the corporate tax

rate The last of these incentives are scheduled to expire in 2012

In 2007 we recorded income tax expense of $282.2 million

representing 25% of income before income taxes and minority

interests The decrease in the overall tax rate in 2007 from 2006

was related primarily to the non-taxable gain on the fair value

of the Suntech warrant as well as reduction in the effective tax

rate as result of an increase in earnings generated by foreign

subsidiaries whose
earnings are being permanently reinvested

and taxed at lower rates

FINANCIAL CONDITION
Cash and cash

equivalents increased $129.0 million from

$859.3 million at December 31 2007 to $988.3 million at

December 31 2008 See additional discussion in Liquidity

and Capital Resources below

Short-term and
long-term investments of $433.1 million at

December 31 2008 decreased $36.7 million from $469.8 million

at December 31 2007 This decrease was primarily due to an

increase in net unrealized temporary losses recorded to other com

prehensive income of $38.9 million and other than temporary

impairments of $14.5 million as well as currency adjustments

The decrease was slightly offset by net purchases of investments

of $31.8 million during the period associated with the purchase

of available for sale investments As of December 31 2008 we

classified $44.1 million of auction rate securities and an additional

$55.0 million of
corporate bonds asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities as non-current assets due to the current conditions

in the general debt markets as further discussed in Liquidity and

Capital Resources below In addition at December 31 2008 we

held $168.8 million in fixed income funds with the intent of

holding them for period exceeding 12 months

Our accounts receivable decreased $0.6 million to $197.3 million

at December 31 2008 compared to $197.9 million at the end of

2007 Our overall days sales outstanding was 42 days at Decem

ber 31 2008 compared to 34 days at the end of 2007 based on

annualized fourth
quarter sales for the respective years The

change in the accounts receivables balance was mainly due to

decrease in sales in the fourth
quarter of 2008 versus 2007 higher

prepayments for
spot polysilicon sales at the end of 2007 com

pared to 2008 and an increase in our allowance for bad debts of

$5.7 million offset by slight extension of payment terms Some

of our customers have been impacted by the current global mac

roeconomic downturn which may directly or indirectly influence

their current liquidity

Our inventories increased $44.9 million or 123% to $81.3 mil

lion from the
prioryear Inventories primarily increased as result

of the higher finished goods inventory due to sharp decrease in

demand in the 2008 fourth quarter and an increase in per unit

costs related to lower
production volumes Our annualized inven

tory turns calculated as the ratio of annualized fourth
quarter cost

of goods sold divided by the year-end inventory balance were

approximately 11 times at December 31 2008 versus approxi

mately 27 times at December 31 2007 We sell our products to

certain customers under consignment arrangements Generally

these consignment arrangements require us to maintain certain

quantity of product in inventory at the customers facility or at

storage facility designated by the customer At December 31

2008 we had $15.1 million of inventory held on consignment

compared to $8.4 million at December 31 2007

Our net property plant and equipment increased $207.2 mil

lion to $1041.2 million over the prior year The increase was

primarily due to capital expenditures related to expansions at our

plants in Pasadena Texas Hsinchu Taiwan and Merano Italy

and foreign currency changes offset by depreciation expense

Our net deferred tax assets totaled $70.7 million at December 31

2008 of which $1.0 million of current deferred tax assets was

included in prepaid and other assets compared to $101.3 million
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at December 31 2007 of which $12.0 million was included in

prepaid and other assets In 2008 the decrease of $30.6 million

in net deferred tax assets is primarily attributed to the reversal of

timing differences for 2008 which included pension and other

post-retirement reserve items related to contributions made in

the current year fixed asset additions for items placed into service

and tax method changes related to fixed assets We believe that

it is more likely than not with our projections
of future taxable

income that we will generate sufficient taxable income to realize

the benefits of the net deferred tax assets at December 31 2008

Customer warrant decreased from $306.3 million at Decem

ber 31 2007 to $13.8 million at December 31 2008 The current

year
decrease represents the change in the estimated fair value of

the warrant and is mainly due to the significant decrease in the

price
of Suntechs ordinary shares

Other assets increased $17.7 million to $73.1 million at Decem

ber 31 2008 from $55.4 million at December 31 2007 This

increase is mainly due to an increase in
spares

the receipt of right

to sell our auction rate securities at par
and additional contributions

to our U.S
pension plan that eliminated the unfunded status of

the plan

Accrued liabilities increased $26.7 million to $67.5 million at

December 31 2008 from $40.8 million at December 31 2007

This increase was due to $13.7 million accrual for an adverse

annual long-term purchase obligation and $12.8 million increase

in accrued withholding taxes

Short-term customer deposits increased $65.0 million to

$187.0 million at December 31 2008 primarily due to additional

deposits received for two new long-term supply agreements
and

additional contractually required deposits for existing long-term

supply agreements These customer deposits are the portion of

deposits received that are refundable to the customer within the

next twelve months

Income taxes payable decreased $58.0 million to $17.9 million

at December 31 2008 compared to $75.9 million at December 31

2007 This decrease is primarily related to the timing of estimated

tax payments of $28.6 million related to 2007 that were remitted

in 2008 The remaining change was due to decrease in US and

foreign tax liabilities due to lower taxable income in the fourth

quarter
of 2008

Pension and post-employment liabilities decreased $15.1 million

to $49.3 million at December 31 2008 compared to $64.4 mil

lion at the end of 2007 of which $3.0 million and $3.8 million

were included in accrued liabilities at December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively This decrease was due to discretionary contributions

of $63.5 million to the U.S pension plan above the minimum

funding requirements that eliminated the unfunded status of

the plan offset by negative investment returns on the portfolio

of $31.2 million As noted above the U.S pension plan is over-

funded as of December 31 2008 and the net asset is recorded

in other long-term assets

Long-term deferred revenue relates to customer supply agree

ments and the original estimated fair value of the warrant described

above We will recognize the deferred revenue on pro-rata
basis

as product is shipped over the life of the contracts The increase

in deferred revenue from $81.4 million at December 31 2007

to $88.8 million at December 31 2008 is primarily the result

of increased non-refundable deposits of $10.3 million received

in connection with our supply agreements offset by deferred

revenue recognized in 2008 of $2.9 million

Other non-current liabilities decreased $18.5 million to

$186.1 million at December 31 2008 compared to $204.6 million

at December 31 2007 This decrease is mainly due to decrease

in the reserve for uncertain tax positions of $44.0 million includ

ing related interest due to the closure of the Internal Revenue Ser

vice examination in the United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit

years
This decrease was partially offset by the receipt

of refundable

customer deposits that are to be refunded beyond the next twelve

months and are related to long-term supply agreements

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Net cash provided by used in

Operating activities 640.5 917.2 527.8

Investing activities 335.0 688.9 174.2

Financing activities 153.3 76.9 40.8

In 2008 we generated $640.5 million of cash from operating

activities compared to $917.2 million in 2007 and $527.8 million

in 2006 The
year over year

decrease of $276.7 million to $640.5

million in 2008 was due to contributions of $76.3 million to our

pension
and post-employment plans changes in working capital

including changes in income taxes payable and inventories as

well as non-current assets and liabilities and deferred revenue

The increase in cash from operating activities in 2007 from

$527.8 million in 2006 was due to improved operating results
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Our principal sources and uses of cash during 2008 were

as follows

Sources

Generated $640.5 million from operations

Received $229.7 million in customer deposits related to

long-term supply agreements and

Received $19.9 million from the exercise of stock options

Uses

Purchased $31.8 million of investments net

Invested $303.2 million in capital expenditures

Paid $321.0 million to repurchase common stock

Refunded $81.6 million in customer deposits related to

long-term supply agreements and

Contributed $76.3 million to our pension and post-

employment plans

At December 31 2008 we had approximately $97.6 million

of committed capital expenditures Capital expenditures in 2008

and committed
capital expenditures for 2009 primarily relate to

increasing our capacity and expanding capability for our next

generation products and polysilicon We are currently evaluating

our 2009 capital expenditures in light of current macroeconomic

events and
expect

that
capital expenditures will be lower in dollar

terms than the amount expended in 2008

In 2008 cash from
financing activities used $153.3 million

compared to $76.9 million
provided in 2007 The decrease was

mainly due to repurchases of our common stock of $321.0 million

in 2008 compared to $111.2 million in 2007 This was slightly

offset by approximately $138.0 million net received in connec

tion with customer deposits relatedto supply agreements in 2008

compared to $115.3 million in 2007 These deposits are refundable

to the customer over two years although such deposits are scheduled

to be replaced each
year with new deposits based on volume commit

ments stated in the contract to reduce our risks associated with

nonfulfillment of the contract by the customers One customer

with which we maintain long-term solar supply agreement did

not make the final
capacity reservation refundable deposit due on

January 2009 We continue to have discussions with this customer

regarding 2009 purchases and their ability to pay the deposit Pre

vious deposits held by us and committed letter of credit exceed the

accounts receivable balance for such customer as of December 31

2008 Also contributing to the decrease in cash from financing

activities was the excess tax benefits from share-based payment

arrangements decrease to $19.0 million in 2008 compared to

$40.0 million in 2007 and decrease to $19.9 million received in

connection with stock option exercises compared to $44.2 million

in 2007

OnJuly 212005 we entered into Revolving Credit Agreement

with National City Bank of the Midwest National City Bank
US Bank National Association and such other lending institu

tions as may from time to time become lenders the National City

Agreement The National City Agreement was amended on

December 20 2006 to reduce the commitment fee and the

interest spread on loans bearing interest at rate determined by

reference to the LIBOR rate Additionally our obligations and

the
guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured

by pledge of the
capital stock of certain of our domestic and

foreign subsidiaries The National City Agreement provides for

$200.0 million
revolving credit facility and has term of five

years
Interest on borrowings under the National City Agreement

would be payable based on our election at LIBOR plus an appli

cable margin currently 0.34% or at defined prime rate plus an

applicable margin currently 0.0% The National City Agreement

also provides for us to pay various fees including commitment

fee currently 0.0 8% on the lenders commitments The National

City Agreement contains covenants typical for credit
arrangements

of comparable size such as minimum earnings before interest

taxes depreciation and amortization and an interest
coverage

ratio

Our obligations under the National
City Agreement are guaran

teed by certain of our subsidiaries At December 31 2008 there

were no borrowings under this credit facility however credit

available under the
facility has been reduced by $114.2 million

related to the issuance of third party letters of credit We are

currently in compliance with all debt covenants

Credit facilities and related borrowings outstanding at Decem

ber 31 2008 were as follows

Dollars in millions Committed Outstanding

Long-term debt $270.4 $32.2

Short-term borrowings 33.2

Total $303.6 $32.2

Of the $270.4 million in committed long-term credit facilities

$114.9 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance of

third
party

letters of credit Our weighted-average cost of borrow

ing was 2.2% at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively Our

short-term borrowings are subject to renewal annually with each

financial institution through the course of the
year
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Our contractual obligations as of December 31 2008 were as follows

Payments Due By Period

Contractual Obligations
Less than 13 45 After

Dollars in millions Total Year Years Years Years

Long-term debt1 32.2 6.1 7.5 6.4 12.2

Operating leases 13.4 3.6 4.5 3.2 2.1

Purchase obligations2
826.3 126.0 162.0 176.9 361.4

Committed capital expenditures3
97.6 97.6

Employee related liabilities4
78.1 0.4

Other long-term liabilitiesuncertain tax positions5
55.9

Customer deposits6
290.3 186.0 104.3

Total contractual obligations $1393.8 $419.7 $278.3 $186.5 $375.7

The contractual commitments shown above except for our debt obligations employee related liabilities uncertain tax positions and customer deposits are not recorded

on our consolidated balance sheet

Our long-term debt consists ofJapanese Yen denominated plant expansion borrowings that have notes maturing over the next nine years

Represents obligations for agreements to purchase goods or services that are enforceable and
legally binding on the Company including minimum quantities to

be purchased and outstanding purchases for goods or services as of December 31 2008

Committed capital expenditures represent commitments for construction or purchase of property plant and equipment They are not recorded as liabilities on our

consolidated balance sheet as of December 31 2008 because we have not yet received the related goods or services or taken title to the property

Employee related liabilities include pension health and welfare benefits and other post-employment benefits Other than pensions the employee related liabilities

are paid as incurred and accordingly specific future years payments are not reasonably estimable Amounts in the table due in less than one year
relate to

required pension funding obligations which represent
the estimated contribution planned during 2009 Funding projections beyond the next twelve months are

not practical to estimate due to the rules affecting tax-deductible contributions and the impact from the plan asset performance interest rates and potential

U.S and international legislation

As of December 312008 $55.9 million of unrecognized tax benefits were included as component of other long-term liabilities Due to the inherent uncertainty

of the underlying tax positions we ate unable to reasonably estimate in which future periods these unrecognized tax benefits will be settled

Customer deposits consist of amounts provided in connection with long-term supply agreements which must be refunded to the customers according to the terms

of the agreements

We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against

claims of infringement of the intellectual property rights of others

in our sales contracts with these customers The terms of most

of these indemnification obligations generally do not provide
for

limitation of our liability
We have not had

any
claims related

to these indemnification obligations as of December 31 2008

Our pension expense
and pension liability are actuarially

determined See Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Our total net unfunded pension liability related to our various

defined benefit pension plans at December 31 2008 totaled $17.3

million Our pension obligations are funded in accordance with

provisions
of federal law Contributions to our pension plans

in

2008 totaled approximately $73.9 million of which $63.5 million

represented discretionary contribution We expect contributions

to our pension plans in 2009 to be approximately
$1.1 million

As of December 31 2008 we held $159.5 million in portfolio

comprised of corporate
bonds and asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities net of temporary impairments
of $14.5 million

and other than temporary impairments
of $14.5 million As of

December 31 2007 this portfolio had $299.5 million of invest

ments net of temporary impairments of $4.3 million majority

of these investments maintain floating interest rate based on

range of spreads to the one and three month LIBOR rate

While we believe the decline in fair value related to the tempo

rary impairments to be directly attributable to the current global

credit conditions we believe the time to reach the original carry

ing value to be
greater

than 12 months Accordingly we have

classified $55.0 million of those investments as non-current assets

We do not anticipate having to sell these securities below our

cost in order to operate our business The asset backed securities
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December 31 2008 and all changes in fair value are recorded to

non-operating income expense other The ARS are comprised

of interest bearing state sponsored student loan revenue bonds

and
municipal bonds with

varying maturity periods and typically

provide short-term liquidity via an auction process that also resets

the applicable interest rate at predetermined calendar intervals

typically every 28 or 35 days The student loan revenue bonds

are collateralized and serviced by underlying student loans and

the
municipal bonds are serviced through revenue generated by

the
issuing municipal entity In the event of an auction failing

to settle on its respective settlement date these funds remain

invested at failed interest rate which is typically higher than

the
previous market rate until the next successful auction For

those auctions that failed to settle we will not be able to access

those funds until the next successful auction another
buyer is

found outside of the auction process the issuer redeems the

security or the security matures As of December 31 2007 none

of our $111.7 million of ARS had failed Commencing in mid-

February 2008 the tightening credit markets and lesser
degree

of
liquidity in the overall credit

marketplace caused auctions on

our ARS to fail During 2008 we liquidated approximately

$60.3 million of ARS As of December 31 2008 all remaining

ARS were classified as non-current assets due to unsuccessful

auctions coupled with current conditions in the
general debt

markets which have created
uncertainty as to when successful

auctions will be reestablished We do not anticipate having to

AA BBB sell these securities below our cost in order to operate our busi

to A- and Below ness The ARS are insured through two different monoline

insurers that presently maintain credit rating of AAA or similar

designation by SP Moodys and/or Fitch as of December 31
2008 or by U.S government backed student loan program

During November 2008 we accepted an offer by our invest

_______________________________________________________
ment broker to receive an ARS Right that would

substantially

ensure recovery to par
of our ARS between June 2010 and July

2012 We have elected the fair value option for the ARS Right

and have recorded the ARS Right at fair value to other assets and

non-operating income other At the same time we reclassified

the ARS from the available-for-sale
category to trading As of

December 31 2008 the ARS Right had value of $6.2 million

which substantially offset the mark-to-market
adjustment of

our outstanding ARS of $7.3 million See Critical Accounting

Policies and Estimates related to our process of evaluating

investments for impairment

are collateralized by various types of assets including auto

consumer home
equity student loan and credit card loans The

collateralized mortgage obligations are collateralized primarily

by residential mortgages Many of these issuances have varying

tranches and subordinations and our investments are typically in

investment grade and more senior higher priority tranches

As of December 31 2008 we held $168.8 million in fixed

income funds net of temporary impairments of $33.2 million

with the intent of
holding them for period exceeding 12 months

See Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates related to our

process of evaluating investments for impairment

The fair value of the
corporate debt securities auction rate

securities and asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities using

Level inputs may fluctuate based on varying assumptions used

in their valuations which include the tax status taxable vs tax-

exempt type of security type of issuer collateralization subor

dination etc credit quality duration likelihood of redemption

insurance
coverage and degree of liquidity in the current credit

markets Due to the lack of observable inputs active markets or

transparency to the
underlying assets we may rely on qualitative

factors to estimate the fair values of the investments including

general macro-economic information and other data supplied by

our investment advisers and brokers

The credit
ratings for our investments in debt securities as of

December 31 2008 are as follows

Credit Ratings

Fair

ValueDollars in millions AAA

Corporate debt securities 84.0 14.0 $57.5 $12.5

Asset-backed securities 40.6 33.1 6.0 1.5

Mortgage-backed securities 34.9 30.5 4.2 0.2

Auction rate securities 44.1 44.1

$203.6 $121.7 $67.7 $14.2

We take into consideration the credit ratings of the individual

securities when evaluating the financial condition and near term

prospects
of the issuer in determining whether the impairment

is temporary or other than temporary See Critical Accounting

Policies and Estimates related to our process
of

evaluating invest

ments for impairment and balance sheet classification

As of December 31 2008 we held $44.1 million of invest

ments related to auction rate securities ARS net of unrealized

losses of $7.3 million These securities were reclassified as trading

securities for accounting purposes during the
quarter ended
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We believe that based on our current cash cash equivalents

and investment balances of approximately $1.4 billion at Decem

ber 31 2008 and expected operating
cash flows the current

liquidity concerns in the credit and capital markets will not have

material impact on our liquidity
cash flow financial flexibility

or our ability to fund our operations

We believe that we have the financial resources needed to meet

business requirements
for at least the next 12 months including

capital expenditures and working capital requirements

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

AND ESTIMATES
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with

accounting principles generally accepted in the United States

requires management to make estimates and assumptions in

certain circumstances that affect amounts reported in the accom

panying consolidated financial statements and related footnotes

In preparing these financial statements management has made

its best estimates of certain amounts included in the financial

statements Application of these accounting policies involves the

exercise ofjudgment and use of assumptions as to future uncer

tainties however and as result actual results could differ from

these estimates Our significant accounting policies are more

fully described in Note of Notes to Consolidated Financial

Statements herein

Revenue Recognition

We record revenue for product sales when title transfers the risks

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer

the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the related

receivable is reasonably assured which is generally at the time of

shipment for non-consignment orders In the case of consignment

orders title
passes

when the customer pulls the product from the

assigned storage facility or storage area or if the customer does

not pull the product within contractually stated period of time

generally 6090 days at the end of that period or when the

customer otherwise
agrees

to take title to the product Our wafers

are generally
made to customer specifications

and we conduct

rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure that

the finished wafers meet the customers specifications
before the

product is shipped We consider international shipping term

definitions in our determination of when title passes We defer

revenue for multiple
element arrangements based on an average

fair value
per

unit for the total arrangement when we receive

cash in excess of fair value We also defer revenue when pricing

is not fixed and determinable or other revenue recognition criteria

is not met

In connection with supply agreements
executed during 2006 we

received various equity instruments and recorded their estimated

fair value to long-term deferred revenue We will recognize
the

deferred revenue on pro-rata basis as product is shipped over the

life of the contracts During 2007 we executed supply agreement

in which the terms of any additional consideration provided by

the customer have not been finalized During 2008 we executed

supply agreement in which we obtained right to subscribe to

common shares of our customer If and when the terms are final

ized for both agreements the estimated fair value of the additional

consideration if determinable and material will be recorded to

deferred revenue

Inventory

Inventories which consist of materials labor and manufacturing

overhead are valued at the lower of cost or market Fixed over

heads are allocated to the costs of conversion based on the normal

capacity
of our production facilities Unallocated overheads during

periods
of abnormally low production levels are recognized

as cost of goods sold in the period in which they are incurred

Raw materials are stated at weighted-average cost Goods in pro

cess and finished goods inventories are stated at standard cost as

adjusted
for variances which approximates weighted-average actual

cost The valuation of inventory requires us to estimate excess and

slow moving inventory The determination of the value of excess

and slow moving inventory is based upon assumptions of future

demand and market conditions If actual market conditions are

less favorable than those projected by management additional

inventory
write-downs may be required

Property Plant and Equipment

We depreciate our building improvements and machinery and

equipment evenly over the assets estimated useful lives Changes

in circumstances such as technological advances changes in our

business model or changes in our capital strategy could result in

the actual useful lives differing from our estimates In those cases

where we determine that the useful life of property plant
and

equipment should be shortened or lengthened we depreciate the

net book value over its revised remaining useful life Concurrent

with our polysilicon expansion in 2008 we assessed the useful lives

of certain new polysilicon
related

property plant and equipment
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placed in service in 2008 and based on historical experience with

similarexisting assets determined that useful life of 25
years

was appropriate Previously existing polysilicon production assets

were depreciated over an estimated useful life of 10 years and

have immaterial net bookvalues at December 31 2008

In accordance with SFAS 144 Accounting for the Impairment

or Disposal of Long-Lived Assets we periodically assess the

impairment of long-lived assets when conditions indicate pos
sible loss When

necessary we record charges for impairments

of long-lived assets for the amount by which the present value of

future cash flows or some other fair value measure is less than

the
carrying value of these assets We have recorded no signifi

cant impairment charges in 20082007 or 2006

We
recognize asset retirement obligations at fair value in the

period in which they are incurred and the carrying amount of

the related long-lived asset is correspondingly increased Over

time the liability is accreted to its future value The corresponding

asset capitalized at inception is depreciated over the useful life of

the asset In addition we could have certain legal obligations for

asset retirements related to disposing of materials in the event of

closure abandonment or sale of certain of our facilities We plan

to operate
the facilities that are subject to the asset retirement

obligations for an indeterminate period beyond the forseeable

future and as such cannot estimate liability at December 31

2008 We will
recognize liability in the period in which we

have determined the timeframe that the asset will no longer

operate
and information is available to reasonably estimate the

liabilitys fair value

Income Taxes

In determining taxable income for financial statement reporting

purposes we must make certain estimates and judgments We
calculate our current and deferred tax provisions based upon

estimates and
assumptions that could differ from the actual results

reflected in our income tax returns filed during the subsequent year

We record adjustments based on filed returns when we have iden

tified the adjustments and finalized the returns which is generally

in the third and fourth quarters of the subsequent year These

estimates and judgments are applied in the calculation of certain

tax liabilities and in the determination of the recoverability of

deferred tax assets which arise from
temporary differences between

the
recognition of assets and liabilities for tax and financial state

ment reporting purposes We regularly review our deferred tax

assets for
realizability taking into consideration all available

evidence both
positive and negative including historical pre-tax

and taxable income losses projected future
pre-tax

and taxable

income losses and the expected timing of the reversals of exist

ing temporary differences In arriving at these judgments the

weight given to the potential effect of all positive and
negative

evidence is commensurate with the extent to which it can be

objectively verified

We adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpre

tation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 as ofJanuary 2007 FIN 48 prescribes recognition

threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement

recognition and measurement of tax position taken or expected

to be taken in tax return

We are subject to income taxes in both the U.S and numerous

foreign jurisdictions From time to time we are subject to income

tax audits in these jurisdictions We believe that our tax return

positions are fully supported but tax authorities are likely to

challenge certain positions which may not be fully sustained

Our income tax expense includes amounts intended to satisfy

income tax assessments that may result from these
challenges

Determining the income tax
expense

for these potential assess

ments and recording the related assets and liabilities requires

significant judgments and estimates Under FIN 48 tax benefits

are recognized only for tax positions that are more likely than not

to be sustained upon examination by tax authorities The amount

recognized is measured as the largest amount of benefit that is

greater than 50
percent likely to be realized upon ultimate settle

ment Unrecognized tax benefits are tax benefits claimed in our

tax returns that do not meet these recognition and measurement

standards Prior to the adoption of FIN 48 uncertain tax positions

were accounted for under either FASB Statement No Account

ing for Contingencies or FASB Statement No 109 Accounting

for Income Taxes We believe that our income tax liabilities

including related interest are adequate in relation to the potential

for additional tax assessments There is risk however that the

amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of audits could be materi

ally different from the amounts previously included in our income

tax expense and therefore could have material impact on our

tax provision net income and cash flows We review our liabilities

quarterly and we may adjust such liabilities due to proposed

assessments by tax authorities changes in facts and circumstances

issuance of new regulations or new case law negotiations between

tax authorities of different countries concerning our transfer

prices the resolution of entire audits or the expiration of statutes
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of limitations Adjustments if required are most likely to occur

in the year during which major audits are closed

We
repatriate to the United States portion

of the current year

earnings
of certain subsidiary We do not provide for U.S income

taxes on the remaining undistributed earnings of our foreign sub

sidiaries which would be payable if the undistributed earnings

were distributed to the U.S as we consider those foreign earnings

to be permanently reinvested outside the U.S We plan foreign

remittance amounts based on projected
cash flow needs as well

as the working capital and long-term investment requirements

of our foreign subsidiaries and our domestic operations

Employee-Related Liabilities

We have long-term net liability
for our defined benefit pension

and other post-employment benefit plans Our obligations are

funded in accordance with provisions
of federal law We adopted

the recognition provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting

Standards No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit

Pension and Other Postretirement Plans SFAS 158 as of

December 31 2006 and the measurement date provisions as of

December 31 2008 SFAS 158 requires an employer to recognize

the overfunded or underfunded status of defined benefit postre

tirement plan as an asset or liability in its statement of financial

position and to recognize changes in that funded status in the year

in which the changes occur through comprehensive income

Our pension and other post-employment liabilities are actu

arially determined and we use various actuarial assumptions

including the discount rate rate of salary increase and expected

return on assets to estimate our costs and obligations If our

assumptions do not materialize as expected expenditures and

costs that we incur could differ from our current estimates We

determine the expected return on plan assets based on our pen

sion plans actual asset mix as of the beginning of the year While

the assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 2008 was

8.3% the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in

the comparable period in 2008 was loss of 17.7% We consult

with the plans actuaries to determine discount rate assumption

that reflects the characteristics of our plans including expected

cash outflows from our plans and utilize an analytical tool that

incorporates
the

concept
of hypothetical yield curve developed

from corporate bond Aa quality yield information Assuming

100 basis point increase in these assumptions our 2008 pension

expense
would have been approximately

$1.9 million higher

Assuming 100 basis point decrease in these assumptions our

2008 pension expense
would have been approximately $0.9 mil

lion lower

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 we adopted
the fair value recognition

provisions
of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R

using
the modified prospective transition method and therefore

have not restated prior periods results Under this transition

method stock-based compensation expense for the
year

ended

December 31 2006 included compensation expense
for all stock-

based compensation awards granted prior to but not yet
vested as

of January 2006 based on the grant-date fair value estimated

in accordance with the original provisions
of SFAS No 123

Accounting for Stock-Based Compensation Stock-based com

pensation expense
for all share-based payment awards granted

after December 31 2005 is based on the grant-date fair value

estimated in accordance with the provisions
of SFAS 123R We

recognize these compensation costs net of an estimated forfeiture

rate and recognize the compensation costs for only those shares

expected to vest on straight-line
basis over the requisite service

period of the award which is generally the option vesting term

With the adoption of SFAS 123R we elected to recognize stock-

based compensation expense for all grants on or after January

2006 on straight-line basis over the requisite service period of

the entire award for ratable awards For awards granted prior

to January 2006 we will continue to calculate compensation

expense by treating each vesting tranche as separate
award

We estimated the forfeiture rate for 2006 and 2007 based on

our historical experience during
the preceding four fiscal years

Prior to January 2006 we accounted for our stock-based com

pensation plans under the recognition and measurement provisions

of Accounting Principles Board Opinion No 25 Opinion 25
Accounting for Stock Issued to Employees and related interpre

tations Accordingly we generally recognized expense only when

we granted options with discounted exercise price Any resulting

compensation expense was recognized over the associated service

period which was generally
the

option vesting term

Determining the appropriate
fair value model and calculating

the fair value of share-based payment awards require the making

of subjective assumptions including the expected life of the share

based payment awards and stock price volatility The assumptions

used in calculating the fair value of share-based payment awards

represent managements best estimates but these estimates
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involve inherent uncertainties and the application of management

judgment As result if factors change and we use different

assumptions our stock-based compensation expense could be

materially different in the future In addition we are required to

estimate the expected forfeiture rate and recognize expense only

for those shares expected to vest If our actual forfeiture rate is

materially different from our estimate the stock-based compen
sation

expense
could be significantly different from what we

have recorded in the current period As of December 31 2008

approximately $52.1 million of total estimated unrecognized

compensation cost related to stock compensation is expected to

be recognized over weighted-average period of two years See

Note 10 to the Consolidated Financial Statements for further

discussion on stock-based compensation

Fair Value Measurements

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 as ofJanuary

2008 SFAS 157 establishes hierarchy for inputs used in mea

suring fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and

minimizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the

most observable inputs be used when available Observable inputs

are inputs that market
participants would use in pricing the asset

or liability developed and are based on market data obtained

from sources independent ofMEMC Unobservable inputs are

inputs that reflect MEMCs assumptions about the assumptions

market
participants would use in pricing the asset or liability

based on the best information available in the circumstances

The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based on the

reliability of
inputs as follows

Level 1Valuations based on quoted prices in active markets

for identical assets or liabilities that MEMC has the ability

to access Valuation adjustments and block discounts are not

applied to Level instruments Because valuations are based

on quoted prices that are readily and regularly available in

an active market valuation of these instruments does not

entail significant degree ofjudgment

Level 2Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that

are not active or for which all significant inputs are observable

either directly or indirectly Valuations for Level assets are

prepared on an individual asset basis using data obtained

from recent transactions for identical securities in inactive

markets or pricing data from similar assets in active and

inactive markets

Level 3Valuations based on inputs that are unobservable

and significant to the overall fair value measurement

Valuations of our Level available for sale investments

are performed using discounted cash flow model which

involves making assumptions about
expected future cash

flows based on estimates of current market interest rates

Our models include estimates of market data including

yields or spreads of trading instruments that are believed

to be similaror comparable when available and assumptions

that are believed to be reasonable on nonobservable inputs

Such
assumptions include the tax status taxable vs tax-

exempt type of security type of issuer collateralization

subordination etc credit quality duration likelihood of

redemption insurance
coverage

and
degree of liquidity in

the current credit markets

In October 2008 the FASB issued Staff Position No FAS 157-3

Determining the Fair Value of Financial Asset When the Mar
ket for That Asset is Not Active FSP 157-3 FSP 157-3 clarifies

the
application of SFAS 157 in cases where market is not active

MEMC has considered the guidance provided by FSP 157-3 in

our determination of estimated fair values for our investments as

of December 31 2008

Derivative Financial Instruments

On July 252006 MEMC received fully vested non-forfeitable

warrant to purchase common shares of customer Suntech

The warrant becomes exercisable over five
year period 20%

annually commencing on January 12008 and has five
year

exercise period from the date each tranche becomes exercisable

The warrant is considered derivative and is therefore marked

to market each reporting period Determining the appropriate

fair value model and estimating the fair value of the warrant

requires the making of subjective assumptions including the

stock price volatility of Suntech We used lattice model to

estimate the warrants fair value combination of Suntechs

historical and implied stock price volatility was used as an

indicator of expected volatility

Investments

Our investment in
equity securities consists of customers com

mon stock Gintech acquired in connection with the execution of

long-term supply agreement This investment was accounted for

under the cost method of accounting until December 2008 when
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the restriction on sale became less than one year Subsequently

this investment is accounted for at fair value and is classified as

long-term available-for-sale investment The fair value of the

investment was estimated based on the closing stock price on

December 31 2008 reduced by the estimated value of put with

one year
restriction In 2007 the fair value of the investment

for disclosure purposes was estimated based on the closing stock

price on December 31 2007 reduced by the estimated value

of regulatory restriction on sale The value of the regulatory

restriction on sale was estimated using
Black Scholes model

considering the stock price volatility expected term dividend

yield and risk-free interest rate

We also have investments in debt securities which require us

to make estimates of their fair values to determine the unrealized

gains and losses on the securities if any losses are temporary or

other than temporary
and concerning the ability and related timing

of liquidating our holdings Unrealized losses are recorded to other

income and
expense

when decline in fair value is determined to

be other-than-temporary In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1

and 124-1 The Meaning of Other-Than-Temporary Impairment

and Its Application to Certain Investments we review several

factors to determine whether loss is other-than-temporary

These factors include but are not limited to the nature of the

investment ii cause and duration of the impairment iii extent

to which fair value is less than cost iv financial condition and

near term prospects
of the issuer and ability to hold the secu

rity
for period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated

recovery in fair value Realized gains and losses are accounted

for on the specific
identification method We determine the

fair value of our debt securities using quoted prices from active

and inactive markets traded prices for similar assets or fair value

measurements based on pricing model We also review our ability

to liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating

cycle to determine the appropriate short or long-term
classifi

cation Our ability to liquidate is determined based on review

of current and short-term credit and capital market conditions

and the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer

RECENTLY ISSUED

ACCOUNTING PRONOUNCEMENTS
In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business

Combinations SFAS 141R which establishes principles and

requirements
for how an acquirer recognizes

and measures in its

financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities

assumed and any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree including

the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in busi

ness combination The requirements of SFAS 141R are effective

for business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or

after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning

on or after December 15 2008 with the exception of the accounting

for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contin

gencies SFAS 141R amends SFAS No 109 Accounting for Income

Taxes SFAS 109 such that adjustments made to valuation allow

ances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contingencies associated

with acquisitions
that closed prior to the effective date of SFAS 141R

would also apply
the

provisions
of SFAS 141R Early adoption was

not permitted Upon adoption SFAS 141R will not have signifi

cant impact on our financial position and results of operations

however any
business combination entered into after the adoption

may significantly impact our consolidated results of operations and

financial condition

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Non-

controlling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements an

amendment of ARB No 51 SFAS 160 SFAS 160 amends

ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the

noncontrolling interest in subsidiary and for the deconsolidation

of subsidiary It clarifies that noncontrolling interest in sub

sidiary which is sometimes referred to as minority interest is

an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should be

reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements Among

other requirements this statement requires consolidated net

income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts attrib

utable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest It also

requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated income state

ment of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable to

the parent
and to the noncontrolling interest The requirements

of SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal years and interim periods

within those fiscal years beginning on or after December 15

2008 We do not expect SFAS 160 to have material effect on

our consolidated results of operations
and financial condition

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amend

ment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161 This statement

is intended to improve transparency in financial
reporting by

requiring
enhanced disclosures of an entitys derivative instruments

and hedging activities and their effects on the entitys financial

position financial performance and cash flows SFAS 161 applies

to all derivative instruments within the scope
of SFAS 133
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Accounting for Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities

SFAS 133 as well as related hedged items bifurcated derivatives

and nonderivative instruments that are designated and qualify

as hedging instruments Entities with instruments subject to

SFAS 161 must provide more robust qualitative disclosures and

expanded quantitative disclosures SFAS 161 is effective

prospectively for financial statements issued for fiscal years

and interim periods beginning after November 15 2008 with

early application permitted We do not expect SFAS 161 to

have material effect on our consolidated results of operations

and financial condition

In December 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-i

Employers Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan Assets

This FSP amends SFAS No 132 revised 2003 Employers

Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretirement Benefits

to provide guidance on an employers disclosures about plan assets

of defined benefit pension or other
postretirement plan including

investment policies and strategies major categories of plan assets

inputs and valuation techniques used to measure the fair value of

plan assets and significant concentrations of risk within
plan assets

This FSP is effective for fiscal
years ending after December 15 2009

with earlier application permitted Upon initial application the

provisions of this FSP are not required for earlier
periods that are

presented for comparative purposes
We are currently evaluating

the disclosure requirements of this new FSP however its adoption

will not have an impact on our consolidated results of operations

and financial condition

MARKET RISK

The overall objective of our financial risk management program

is to reduce the potential negative earnings effects from changes

in foreign exchange and interest rates arising in our business

activities We manage these financial
exposures through opera

tional means and by using various financial instruments These

practices may change as economic conditions change

To
mitigate financial market risks of foreign currency exchange

rates we utilize currency forward contracts We do not use deriva

tive financial instruments for speculative or trading purposes We

generally hedge transactional
currency

risks with
currency

forward

contracts Gains and losses on these foreign currency exposures are

generally offset by corresponding losses and gains on the related

hedging instruments resulting in negligible net exposure to MEMC
substantial majority of our revenue and capital spending is trans

acted in U.S Dollars However we do enter into these transactions

in other currencies primarily the Euro the Japanese Yen and

certain other Asian currencies To protect against reductions in

value and volatility of future cash flows caused by changes in foreign

exchange rates we have established transaction-based hedging

programs Our hedging programs reduce but do not always elimi

nate the impact of foreign currency exchange rate movements In

addition to the direct effects of changes in exchange rates such

changes typically affect the volume of sales or the foreign currency

sales price as competitors products become more or less attractive

Our Taiwan Malaysia and Singapore based subsidiaries use the

U.S Dollar as their functional currencies for US GAAP
purposes

and do not hedge New Taiwanese Dollar Malaysian Ringgit or

Singapore Dollar
exposures

We are subject to interest rate risk related to our cash equivalents

investments and
pension plan assets To mitigate substantial risk

associated with changes in interest rates we seek to obtain fixed rate

securities actively manage our portfolio duration and diversi1y across

different currencies Our long-term debt is also at fixed rate In

addition to interest rate risk on our cash equivalents investments

and pension plan assets we are subject to issuer credit risk because

the value of our investments may change based on liquidity issues

or adverse economic conditions
affecting the creditworthiness of

the issuers or group
of issuers of the securities we may own As of

December 31 2008 our investments were in fixed income funds

individual
corporate bonds asset-backed securities mortgage-

backed securities and auction rate securities comprised of tax exempt

municipal bonds and state sponsored student loan revenue bonds

Our pension plan assets are invested
primarily in marketable securi

ties including common stocks bonds and interest bearing deposits

Due to the continued liquidity conditions in the global credit

markets and failed auctions for some of our auction rate securities

at December 31 2008 we classified certain debt securities previ

ously recorded as current with fair value of $99.1 million as

non-current assets See additional discussion in Liquidity and

Capital Resources and Critical
Accounting Policies and Estimates

Due to the diversity of and numerous securities in our portfolio

estimating hypothetical change in value of our portfolio based on

estimated changes in interest rates and issuer risk is not practical

With the receipt of the Suntech warrant and our investment

in customers stock we are exposed to equity price risk

hypothetical 10% change in the stock price of our customer

in which we maintain warrant would result in an estimated

change in the fair value of the warrant of approximately $4 mil

lion at December 31 2008
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2008

Dollars in millions except per share data First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales $501.4 $531.4 $546.0 $425.7

Gross profit
259.3 282.8 269.7 193.0

Loss income before minority interests 40.7 177.5 183.6 69.2

Minority interests 1.1 1.4 0.8 1.1

Net loss income 41.8 176.1 182.8 70.3

Basic loss income per share 0.18 0.77 0.81 0.31

Diluted loss income per share 0.18 0.76 0.80 0.31

Market close stock prices

High 87.88 77.35 59.64 28.83

Low 63.08 61.38 26.52 10.45

loss of $209.4 million $12.3 million $9.6 million and $61.2 million was recorded to non-operating expense
in the quarters

ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 and December 31 2008 respectively due to the mark to market adjustment related to the Suntech

warrant received in 2006 as discussed in Note 2m to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2007

Dollars in millions except per share data First Quarter Second Quarter Third Quarter Fourth Quarter

Net sales $440.4 $472.7 $472.8 $535.9

Gross profit
222.5 245.6 238.8 293.6

Income before minority interests 136.1 164.9 151.2 377.4

Minority interests 1.4 1.3 0.3 1.0

Net income 134.7 163.6 151.5 376.4

Basic income per share 0.60 0.73 0.67 1.65

Diluted income per share 0.58 0.70 0.65 1.62

Market close stock prices

High 63.60 67.43 63.64 94.02

Low 40.29 54.09 53.34 59.17

gain/loss of $1.1 million $7.9 million $9.3 million and $204.7 million was recorded to non-operating income expense

in the quarters ended March 31 June 30 September 30 and December 31 2007 respectively due to the mark to market adjustment

related to the Suntech warrant received in 2006 as discussed in Note 2m to the Consolidated Financial Statements

MEMC 2008 Annual Report 25



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
In millions except per share data

For the year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Net sales $2004.5 $1921.8 $1540.6

Cost of goods sold 999.7 921.3 851.6

Gross profit 1004.8 1000.5 689.0

Operating expenses

Marketing and administration 110.8 111.3 94.9

Research and development 40.8 39.3 35.8

Operating income 853.2 849.9 558.3

Non-operating income expense

Interest
expense 1.8 1.4 2.4

Interest income 46.4 45.0 14.6

Decline increase in fair value of warrant 292.5 220.8 18.9

Other net 20.3 2.5 1.1

Total non-operating expense income 268.2 261.9 32.2

Income before income tax expense and minority interests 585.0 1111.8 590.5

Income tax expense 195.4 282.2 214.8

Income before minority interests 389.6 829.6 375.7

Minority interests 2.2 3.4 6.4

Net income 387.4 826.2 369.3

Basic income per share 1.71 3.66 1.66

Diluted income per share 1.69 3.56 1.61

Weighted-average shares used in computing basic income
per

share 226.9 225.6 222.1

Weighted-average shares used in computing diluted income per share 228.6 232.3 229.7

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

Tn millions except per
share data

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents

Short-term investments

Accounts receivable net

Inventories

Prepaid and other current assets

As of December 31

2008 2007

988.3

148.4

197.3

81.3

38.9

859.3

457.1

197.9

36.4

38.8

Total current assets 1454.2 1589.5

Investments
284.7 12.7

Property plant and equipment net 1041.2 834.0

Deferred tax assets net
69.7 89.3

Customer warrant
13.8 306.3

Other assets
73.1 55.4

Total assets $2936.7 $2887.2

Liabilities and Stockholders Equity

Current liabilities

Current portion of long-term debt 6.1 5.3

Accounts payable
162.4 168.3

Accrued liabilities
67.5 40.8

Accrued wages
and salaries 31.7 31.9

Customer deposits
187.0 122.0

Income taxes payable
17.9 75.9

Total current liabilities
472.6 444.2

Long-term debt less current portion
26.1 25.6

Pension and post-employment
liabilities

46.3 60.6

Deferred revenue
88.8 81.4

Other liabilities
186.1 204.6

Total liabilities
819.9 816.4

Minority interests 34.8 35.8

Commitments and contingencies

Stockholders equity

Preferred stock $.01 par value 50.0 shares authorized none issued

or outstanding at December 31 2008 or 2007

Common stock $01 par value 300.0 shares authorized 233.3 and

231.9 issued at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively
2.3 2.3

Additional paid-in capital
425.6 358.0

Retained earnings 2147.1 1760.5

Accumulated other comprehensive loss income 55.6 29.8

Treasury stock 8.8 and 2.6 shares at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively 437.4 115.6

Total stockholders equity 2082.0 2035.0

Total liabilities and stockholders equity $2936.7 $2887.2

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
In millions

387.4

104.0

28.5

54.1

292.5

20.9

4.3

43.7

12.0

24.2

33.1

59.1

72.4

46.5

826.2

80.7

31.1

24.5

220.8

2.3

9.5

6.0

45.5

3.9

23.9

39.0

18.3

9.9

44.8

369.3

70.2

19.0

47.1

18.9

2.8

0.8

69.8

42.6

3.7

22.0

9.3

45.6

10.1

38.2

For the year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Cash flows from operating activities

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities

Depreciation and amortization

Stock-based compensation

Provision for deferred taxes

Decline increase in fair value of warrant

Other

Changes in assets and liabilities

Short-term investments trading securities

Accounts receivable

Inventories

Prepaid and other current assets

Accounts payable and accrueds

Deferred revenue and customer deposits

Income taxes payable

Pension and post-employment liabilities

Other non-current assets and liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activities 640.5 917.2 527.8

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale and maturities of investments 485.5 93.2 32.2

Purchases of investments 517.3 506.4 62.0

Capital expenditures 303.2 276.4 148.4

Other
0.7 4.0

Net cash used in investing activities 335.0 688.9 174.2

Cash flows from financing activities

Net
repayments on short-term borrowings 13.2

Net proceeds from customer deposits related to long-term supply agreements 138.0 115.3 37.3

Principal payments on long-term debt 6.0 5.2 5.3
Excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements 19.0 40.0 10.5

Dividend to minority interest 3.2 6.2 5.6
Common stock repurchased 321.0 111.2

Proceeds from issuance of common stock 19.9 44.2 17.1

Net cash used in provided by financing activities 153.3 76.9 40.8

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents 23.2 26.6 6.6

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 129.0 331.8 401.0

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of period 859.3 527.5 126.5

Cash and cash equivalents at end of period 988.3 859.3 527.5

Supplemental disclosures of cash flow infonnation

Interest payments net of amount capitalized 1.1 0.4 1.4

Income taxes paid 194.4 147.8 77.0

Supplemental schedule of non-cash investing and financing activities

Accounts payable relieved incurred for acquisition of fixed assets 6.9 19.3 24.9

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY

In millions

Accumulated

Common Stock Additional Other Common Stock Total Total

Issued Paid-in Retained Comprehensive Deferred Held rn Treasury Stockholders Comprehensive

Shares Amount Capital Earnings
Income Loss Compensation Shares Amount Equity Income Loss

Balance at December 31 2005 222.3 $2.2 $191.6 557.7 $35.8 $0.1 0.7 4.2 711.4

SAB 108 cumulative effect adjustment
6.8 6.8

SFAS 158 adjustment net of $4.4 tax 7.1 7.1

Comprehensive income

Net income 369.3 369.3 $369.3

Net translation adjustment
18.6 18.6 18.6

Minimum pension liability

netof$1.6tax 2.7 2.7 2.7

Stockplansnet
1.7 50.9 0.1 51.0

Total comprehensive income
$390.6

BalanceatDecember3l2006 224.0 $2.2 $242.5 933.8 7.4 0.7 4.2 $1166.9

FIN 48 adjustment
0.5 0.5

Comprehensive income

Net income 826.2 826.2 $826.2

Net translation adjustment
32.3 32.3 32.3

Net unrecognized actuarial loss and

prior service credit net of $5.9 tax 9.2 9.2 9.2

Net unrealized loss on

available-for-sale securities 4.3 4.3 4.3

Stockplansnet
3.4 115.6 0.1 0.2 115.4

Common stock repurchases
1.8 111.2 111.2

Net exercise of warrants 4.5 0.1 0.1

Total comprehensive income $863.4

Balance at December 31 2007 231.9 $2.3 $358.0 $1760.5 29.8 2.6 $115.6 $2035.0

SFAS 158 adjustment

adoption of measurement date provision 0.8 0.8

Comprehensive income

Net income 387.4 387.4 $387.4

Net translation adjustment
14.2 14.2 14.2

Net unrecognized actuarial loss and

prior service credit net of $17.5 tax 32.3 32.3 32.3

Net unrealized loss on

available-for-sale securities 38.9 38.9 38.9

Stockplansnet
1.4 67.6 0.8 66.8

Common stock repurchases
6.2 321.0 321.0

Total comprehensive income $302.0

Balance at December 31 2008 233.3 $2.3 $425.6 $2147.1 $55.6 8.8 $437.4 $2082.0

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NATURE OF OPERATIONS
We are vertically integrated global leader in the manufacture and

sale of wafers and have been pioneer in the design and develop

ment of wafer
technologies for fifty years

With research and

development and manufacturing facilities in the US Europe and

Asia Pacific we enable the next generation of high performance

semiconductor and solar applications Our customers include major

semiconductor device and solar cell manufacturers We provide

wafers in sizes ranging from 100 millimeters inch to 300 milli

meters 12 inch for semiconductor applications and 156 millimeter

wafers for solar applications Depending on market conditions we

also sell intermediate products such as polysilicon silane gas ingots

and
scrap

wafers to semiconductor device and equipment makers

solar cell and module manufacturers flat panel and other industries

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Use of Estimates

In
preparing our financial statements we use estimates and

assumptions that may affect reported amounts and disclosures

Estimates are used when accounting for investments depreciation

amortization accrued liabilities employee benefits derivatives

stock based compensation income taxes and asset valuation

allowances among others To the extent there are material differ

ences between the estimates and actual results our future results

of operations would be affected

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassified to conform

with the current
year presentation

Principles of Consolidation

Our consolidated financial statements include the accounts of

MEMC Electronic Materials Inc and our wholly and majority-

owned subsidiaries We record
minority interest for non-wholly

owned consolidated subsidiaries All
significant inter

company balances and transactions among our subsidiaries

have been eliminated

In November 2001 Texas Pacific Group TPG acquired

beneficial ownership of
approximately 72% of the outstanding

stock of MEMC In connection with that transaction the assets

of majority-owned subsidiary were understated and portion

of the subsequent depreciation of those assets should have been

charged to minority interests The effect in any individual prior

year was not material to our results of operations financial

position or cash flows During 2006 MEMC adopted the

provisions of Staff Accounting Bulletin No 108 and recorded

cumulative credit adjustment of $6.8 million to beginning retained

earnings related to the
minority interest that was overstated as of

December 31 2005 As of December 31 2007 TPG no longer

had any beneficial ownership ofMEMC stock

Cash and Cash Equivalents

Cash equivalents include highly liquid commercial paper time

deposits and money market funds with original maturity periods of

three months or less when purchased Total cash and cash equiva

lents of $138.0 million and $353.8 million as of December 31 2008

and 2007 respectively are maintained by foreign subsidiaries whose

functional
currency is not the U.S dollar

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following

As of December 31

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Cash 82.9 $285.0

Cash equivalents

Commercial paper 45.5

Time deposits 119.4 296.9

Money market funds 786.0 231.9

$988.3 $859.3

Investments

Short and long-term investments consist of the following

Time
Deposits Time deposits classified as short-term investments

are comprised mainly of demand deposits with commercial banks

or investment companies having fixed original maturities exceed

ing three months but less than or equal to one year
with fixed

interest rates and
including pre-payment penalties for

early with

drawal Purchases and sales of these time deposits are included in

investing activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Trading Investments Trading investments are stated at fair value

with realized and unrealized gains or losses resulting from
changes

in fair value recognized currently in
non-operating income and

expense Included in trading investments are auction rate securi

ties Purchases and sales of trading investments are included in

operating activities in the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Available-for-Sale In vestments Investments designated as

available-for-sale are reported at fair value with unrealized gains

and losses net of tax recorded in accumulated other comprehen

sive income Purchases and sales of available-for-sale investments
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are included in investing activities in the Consolidated Statements

of Cash Flows

Investments are evaluated at each period end date for impairment

including classification as temporary or other than temporary

Unrealized losses are recorded to other income and expense when

decline in fair value is determined to be other-than-temporary

In accordance with FSP FAS 115-1 and 124-1 The Meaning of

Other-Than-Temporary Impairment and Its Application to Certain

Investments we review several factors to determine whether loss

is other-than-temporary These factors include but are not limited to

the nature of the investment ii cause and duration of the impair

ment iii extent to which fair value is less than cost iv financial

condition and near term prospects
of the issuer and ability to hold

the security
for period of time sufficient to allow for

any anticipated

recovery
in fair value Realized gains and losses are accounted for

on the specific
identification method We determine the fair value

of our debt securities using quoted prices from active and inactive

markets traded prices
for similar assets or fair value measurements

based on pricing model We also review our ability and intent to

liquidate our investments within the next 12 month operating cycle

to determine the appropriate short or long-term classification Our

ability to liquidate is determined based on review of current and

short-term credit and capital
market conditions and the financial

condition and near term prospects
of the issuer

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts

We establish an allowance for doubtful accounts to adjust our

net receivables to amounts considered to be ultimately collectible

Our allowance is based on variety of factors including the

length of time receivables are past due significant
one-time

events the financial health of our customers and historical expe

rience The balance of our allowance for doubtful accounts was

$5.9 million and $0.2 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007

respectively Bad debt expense was $5.7 million for the year
ended

December 31 2008 During the
year

ended December 31 2007

we reduced our estimate of the allowance for doubtful accounts

by approximately $1.2 million with the offset recorded to the

income statement There were no write-offs for bad debts for the

years
ended December 31 2008 and 2007 As discussed in Note 16

in late February 2009 we revised our estimate for the allowance

for doubtful accounts and recorded an additional $4.5 million of

bad debt expense which is included in the 2008 amounts above

Inventories

Inventories which consist of materials labor and manufacturing

overhead are valued at the lower of cost or market Fixed overheads

are allocated to the costs of conversion based on the normal capacity

of our production facilities Unallocated overheads during periods

of abnormally low production levels are recognized as cost of goods

sold in the period in which they are incurred Raw materials are

stated at weighted-average cost Goods in process
and finished goods

inventories are stated at standard cost as adjusted for variances

which approximates weighted-average
actual cost The valuation of

inventory requires us to estimate excess and slow moving inventory

The determination of the value of excess and slow moving inven

tory
is based upon assumptions

of future demand and market con

ditions If actual market conditions are less favorable than those

projected by management inventory write-downs may be required

Property Plant and Equipment

We record
property plant and equipment at cost and depreciate it

evenly over the assets estimated useful lives as follows

Years

Buildings and improvements
460

Machinery and equipment
125

Concurrent with our polysilicon expansions
in 2008 we assessed

the useful lives of certain new polysilicon
related

property plant

and equipment placed in service in 2008 and based on historical

experience
with similarexisting assets determined that useful

life of 25
years was appropriate Previously existing polysilicon

production assets were depreciated over an estimated useful life

of 10 years
and have immaterial net book values at December 31

2008 Leasehold improvements are depreciated over the shorter

of the estimated remaining useful life of the asset or the remain

ing
lease term including renewal periods considered reasonably

assured of execution Depreciation expense
for the

years
ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 was $103.0 million $79.3

million and $68.2 millionrespectively

The cost of constructing
facilities and equipment includes

interest costs Capitalized interest totaled $0.8 million $1.0 mil

lion and $0.7 million in 20082007 and 2006 respectively

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets

and Asset Retirement Obligations

In accordance with Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 144 Accounting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long

Lived Assets we periodically assess the impairment of long-lived

assets when conditions indicate possible loss When necessary

we record charges for impairments of long-lived assets for the

amount by which the present value of future cash flows or some
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other fair value measure is less than the carrying value of these

assets We have recorded no significant impairment charges in

20082007 or 2006

We recognize asset retirement obligations at fair value in the

period in which they are incurred and the carrying amount of the

related long-lived asset is correspondingly increased Over time

the liability is accreted to its future value The corresponding asset

capitalized at inception is depreciated over the useful life of the

asset In addition we could have certain legal obligations for asset

retirements related to disposing of materials in the event of closure

abandonment or sale of certain of our facilities We plan to operate

the facilities that are subject to the asset retirement obligations for

an indeterminate period beyond the foreseeable future and as such

cannot estimate liability at December 31 2008 We will recog

nize liability in the
period in which we have determined the

timeframe that the asset will no longer operate and information is

available to reasonably estimate the liabilitys fair value

Operating Leases

The Company enters into lease agreements for variety of busi

ness purposes including office and manufacturing space office

and manufacturing equipment and computer equipment por
tion of these are noncancellable operating leases

Customer Deposits

MEMC has executed
supply agreements including any amend

ments with multiple customers which required the customers to

provide security deposits As of December 31 2008 and 2007 the

balance of these deposits totaled $290.3 million and $152.6 million

respectively These deposits are required to be refunded to the

customers over the next two years as set forth in the agreements

unless minimum purchase quantities are not met These
deposits

are generally refundable to the customer over two years The long-

term portion of these deposits is included in other non-current

liabilities on our consolidated balance sheet As of December 31

2008 the following obligations were outstanding

Refundable Amounts Due By Period

Less than 12
Dollars in millions Total Year Years

Customer deposits $290.3 $186.0 $104.3

Revenue Recognition

We record revenue for product sales when title transfers the risks

and rewards of ownership have been transferred to the customer

the fee is fixed and determinable and collection of the related

receivable is reasonably assured which is generally at the time of

shipment for non-consignment orders In the case of consignment

orders title
passes when the customer pulls the product from the

assigned MEMC
storage facility or storage area or if the customer

does not pull the product within contractually stated period of

time generally 6090 days at the end of that period or when

the customer otherwise
agrees to take title to the product Our

wafers are generally made to customer specifications and we con

duct rigorous quality control and testing procedures to ensure

that the finished wafers meet the customers specifications before

the product is shipped We consider international shipping term

definitions in our determination of when title
passes

We defer

revenue for multiple element
arrangements

based on fair value

per
unit for the total arrangement when we receive cash in excess

of fair value We also defer revenue when pricing is not fixed and

determinable or other revenue recognition criteria is not met

As of December 31 2008 and 2007 MEMC had $16.0 million

and $6.1 million respectively of long-term deferred revenue related

to the non-refundable
portion of cash received in connection with

long-term supply agreements MEMC also had $72.8 million and

$75.3 million of long-term deferred revenue related to additional

consideration received from our customers in the form of equity

instruments as of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively We

recognize the deferred revenue on pro-rata
basis as product is

shipped over the life of the contracts

Derivative Financial Instruments

During 2006 MEMC signed long-term supply agreement

with customer Suntech Power Holdings Suntech At the same

time MEMC received fully vested non-forfeitable warrant to

purchase common shares of Suntech The warrant becomes exer

cisable over five year period 20% annually beginningJanuary

2008 and has five
year exercise period from the date each tranche

becomes exercisable The estimated
grant date fair value of the

warrant was $66.6 million and was recorded to customer warrant

with the offset to deferred revenue long-term in accordance with

EITF 00-8 Accounting by Grantee for an Equity Instrument

to be received in conjunction with Providing Goods or Services

The non-cash transaction was excluded from the Consolidated

Statements of Cash Flows Determining the appropriate fair

value model and calculating the fair value of the warrant require

the making of estimates and assumptions including Suntechs

stock price volatility interest rate dividends marketability and

expected return requirements We used lattice model to deter

mine the warrants fair value The
assumptions used in calculating

32 MEMC 2008 Annual Report



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

the fair value of the warrant represent our best estimates but

these estimates involve inherent uncertainties and the application

of our judgment The warrant is considered derivative and is

therefore marked to market each reporting period Accordingly

in 2008 2007 and 2006 $292.5 million $220.8 million and

$18.9 million respectively was recorded as decrease/increase

to other assetslong-term and non-operating income expense

We generally use currency forward contracts to manage foreign

currency exchange risk relating to current trade receivables with

our foreign subsidiaries and current trade receivables and payables

with our customers and vendors denominated in foreign currencies

primarily Japanese Yen and Euro The purpose of our foreign

currency
forward contract activities is to protect us from the

risk that the dollar net cash flows resulting from foreign cur

rency
transactions will be negatively

affected by changes in

exchange rates We do not hold or issue financial instruments

for speculative or trading purposes

Gains or losses on our forward exchange contracts as well as

the offsetting losses or gains on the related hedged receivables

are included in non-operating income expense
in the Consoli

dated Statements of Income Net
currency

losses on unhedged

foreign currency positions
totaled $3.0 million $1.7 million and

$1.1 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Translation of Foreign Currencies

We determined the functional currency
of each subsidiary based

on number of factors including the predominant currency
for

the subsidiarys expenditures and the subsidiarys borrowings

When the subsidiarys local currency is considered its functional

currency we translate its financial statements to U.S Dollars

as follows

Assets and liabilities using exchange rates in effect at the

balance sheet date and

Statement of income accounts at average exchange rates

for the period

Adjustments from the translation process are presented

in accumulated other comprehensive income loss in stock

holders equity

Income Taxes

Deferred income taxes arise because of different tax basis of

assets or liabilities between financial statement accounting
and

tax accounting which are known as temporary differences We

record the tax effect of these temporary differences as deferred

tax assets generally items that can be used as tax deduction

or credit in future periods and deferred tax liabilities generally

items for which we receive tax deduction but have not yet
been

recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Income We regu

larly review our deferred tax assets for realizability taking into

consideration all available evidence both
positive

and negative

including historical pre-tax and taxable income losses projected

future
pre-tax

and taxable income losses and the expected timing

of the reversals of existing temporary differences In arriving at

these judgments the weight given to the potential effect of all

positive and negative
evidence is commensurate with the extent

to which it can be objectively verified

We adopted
Financial Accounting Standards Board Interpre

tation No 48 Accounting for Uncertainty in Income Taxes

FIN 48 as ofJanuary 2007 FIN 48 prescribes recognition

threshold and measurement attribute for the financial statement

recognition
and measurement of tax position

taken or expected

to be taken in tax return

Under FIN 48 tax benefits are recognized only for tax positions

that are more likely than not to be sustained upon examination by

tax authorities The amount recognized is measured as the largest

amount of benefit that is greater than 50 percent likely to be real

ized upon ultimate settlement Unrecognized tax benefits are tax

benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet these recog

nition and measurement standards We believe that our income

tax liabilities including related interest are adequate in relation

to the potential for additional tax assessments There is risk

however that the amounts ultimately paid upon resolution of

audits could be materially different from the amounts previously

included in our income tax expense and therefore could have

material impact on our tax provision net income and cash flows

We review our liabilities quarterly and we may adjust such liabil

ities due to proposed assessments by tax authorities changes in

facts and circumstances issuance of new regulations or new case

law negotiations
between tax authorities of different countries

concerning our transfer prices the resolution of entire audits or

the expiration
of statutes of limitations Adjustments are most

likely to occur in the
year during which major audits are closed

We repatriate to the United States portion of the current year

earnings
of certain subsidiary for which deferred taxes have been

recorded We do not provide for U.S income taxes on the remain

ing undistributed earnings
of our foreign subsidiaries which would

be payable if the undistributed earnings were distributed to the

U.S as we consider those foreign earnings to be permanently

reinvested outside the U.S We plan foreign remittance amounts

MEMC 2008 Annual Report 33



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

based on projected cash flow needs as well as the working capital

and long-term investment requirements of our foreign subsidiaries

and our domestic operations

Stock-Based Compensation

Effective January 2006 we adopted the fair value recognition

provisions of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 123 revised 2004 Share-Based Payment SFAS 123R

using the modified prospective transition method and therefore we

did not restate prior periods results Under this transition method

stock-based compensation expense for the year ended December 31

2006 included compensation expense for all stock-based compensa

tion awards granted prior to but not yet vested as ofJanuary 12006
based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with the

original provisions of SFAS 123 Stock-based compensation expense

for all share-based payment awards
granted after December 31 2005

is based on the grant-date fair value estimated in accordance with

the provisions of SFAS 123R We recognize these compensation

costs net of an estimated forfeiture rate and recognize the compen
sation costs for only those shares expected to vest on straight-line

basis over the requisite service period of the award which is generally

the option vesting term With the adoption of SFAS 123R we elected

to recognize stock-based compensation expense
for all

grants on or

afterJanuary 12006 on straight-line basis over the requisite service

period of the entire award for ratable awards For awards granted

prior to January 2006 we will continue to calculate compensation

expense by treating each vesting tranche as separate
award We

estimate the forfeiture rate taking into consideration our historical

experience during the preceding four fiscal
years

We routinely examine our assumptions used in estimating the

fair value of employee options granted As
part

of this assessment

we have determined that our historical stock price volatility and

historical
pattern of option exercises are appropriate indicators

of expected volatility and expected term The interest rate is

determined based on the implied yield currently available on

U.S Treasury zero-coupon issues with remaining term equal

to the expected term of the award We estimate the fair value

of options using
the Black-Scholes option-pricing model for our

ratable and cliff vesting options

Contingencies

We record contingent liabilities when the amount can be reasonably

estimated and the loss is probable

Shipping and Handling

Costs to ship products to customers are included in marketing and

administration in the consolidated statements of income Amounts

billed to customers if any to cover shipping and handling are

included in net sales Cost to ship products to customers were

$11.2 million $10.9 million and $9.6 million for the
years

ended

December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Fair Value Measurements

In September 2006 the Financial Accounting Standards Board

FASB issued Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 157 Fair Value Measurements SFAS 157 which establishes

framework for measuring fair value and expands disclosures

about fair value measurements In February 2008 the FASB issued

FASB FSP 157-2 which delays the effective date of SFAS 157 for

certain non-financial assets and non-financial liabilities until

fiscal
years beginning after November 15 2008 and interim

periods within those fiscal years We do not believe SFAS 157

will have material impact upon adoption on our consolidated

financial statements related to non-financial assets and liabilities

Effective
January 2008 we adopted SFAS 157 for financial

assets and liabilities recognized at fair value on recurring basis

which did not have material impact on our consolidated finan

cial
position results of operations or cash flows In October 2008

the FASB issued Staff Position No FAS 157-3 Determining the

Fair Value of Financial Asset When the Market for That Asset

is Not Active FSP 157-3 FSP 157-3 clarifies the application of

SFAS 157 in cases where market is not active MEMC has applied

the guidance provided by FSP 157-3 in our determination of esti

mated fair values for our investments as of December 31 2008

SFAS 157 establishes hierarchy for
inputs used in measuring

fair value that maximizes the use of observable inputs and mini

mizes the use of unobservable inputs by requiring that the most

observable inputs be used when available Observable inputs are

inputs that market participants would use in pricing the asset or

liability developed and are based on market data obtained from

sources independent ofMEMC Unobservable inputs reflect

assumptions market participants would use in pricing the asset

or liability based on the best information available in the circum

stances The hierarchy is broken down into three levels based

on the reliability of
inputs as follows

Level Valuations based on quoted prices in active mar

kets for identical assets or liabilities that MEMC has the

ability to access Valuation adjustments and block discounts
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are not applied to Level instruments Because valuations

are based on quoted prices
that are readily and regularly

available in an active market valuation of these instruments

does not entail significant degree ofjudgment

Level 2Valuations based on quoted prices in markets that

are not active or for which all significant inputs are observ

able either directly or indirectly Valuations for Level assets

are prepared on an individual asset basis using data obtained

from recent transactions for identical securities in inactive

markets or pricing data from similar assets in active and

inactive markets

Level 3Valuations based on inputs
that are unobservable

and significant to the overall fair value measurement

On January 2008 MEMC adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No 159 The Fair Value Option for

Financial Assets and Financial Liabilitiesincluding an amend

ment of FASB Statement No 115 SFAS 159 This statement

permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments

and certain other items at fair value This statement also establishes

presentation and disclosure requirements designed to facilitate

comparisons
between entities that choose different measurement

attributes for similar
types

of assets and liabilities Unrealized

gains and losses on items for which the fair value option has been

elected are reported in earnings We have adopted SFAS 159 and

did not elect to designate any financial instruments to be subject

to the fair value option at the date of adoption Subsequently we

have elected to account for the auction rate securities right the

ARS Right under the fair value option as discussed in Note

We maintain various financial instruments recorded at cost

in the December 31 2008 and 2007 balance sheets that are not

required to be recorded at fair value For these instruments we used

the following methods and assumptions to estimate the fair value

Cash equivalents accounts receivable and payable

income taxes payable short-term borrowings and

accrued liabilitiescost approximates fair value because

of the short maturity period and

Long-term debtfair value is based on the amount of

future cash flows associated with each debt instrument

discounted at our current borrowing rate for similardebt

instruments of comparable terms

Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 141R Business

Combinations SFAS 141R which establishes principles and

requirements for how an acquirer recognizes and measures in its

financial statements the identifiable assets acquired the liabilities

assumed and
any noncontrolling interest in an acquiree including

the recognition and measurement of goodwill acquired in busi

ness combination The requirements of SFAS 141R are effective

for business combinations for which the acquisition
date is on or

after the beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning

on or after December 15 2008 with the exception of the account

ing
for valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax

contingencies SFAS 141R amends SFAS No 109 Accounting

for Income Taxes SFAS 109 such that adjustments made to

valuation allowances on deferred taxes and acquired tax contin

gencies associated with acquisitions that closed prior to the effec

tive date of SFAS 141R would also apply the provisions of SFAS

141R Early adoption was not permitted Upon adoption SFAS

141R will not have significant impact on our financial position

and results of operations however any business combination

entered into after the adoption may significantly impact our con

solidated results of operations and financial condition

In December 2007 the FASB issued SFAS No 160 Non-

controlling Interest in Consolidated Financial Statements an

amendment of ARB No 51 SFAS 160 SFAS 160 amends

ARB 51 to establish accounting and reporting standards for the

noncontrolling interest in subsidiary and for the deconsolida

tion of subsidiary It clarifies that noncontrolling interest in

subsidiary which is sometimes referred to as minority interest

is an ownership interest in the consolidated entity that should

be reported as equity in the consolidated financial statements

Among other requirements
this statement requires consolidated

net income to be reported at amounts that include the amounts

attributable to both the parent and the noncontrolling interest

It also requires disclosure on the face of the consolidated income

statement of the amounts of consolidated net income attributable

to the parent and to the noncontrolling interest The requirements

of SFAS 160 are effective for fiscal years
and interim periods within

those fiscal
years beginning on or after December 15 2008 We do

not expect SFAS 160 to have material effect on our consolidated

results of operations and financial condition

In March 2008 the FASB issued SFAS No 161 Disclosures

about Derivative Instruments and Hedging Activities an amend

ment of FASB Statement No 133 SFAS 161 This statement

is intended to improve transparency
in financial reporting by

requiring enhanced disclosures of an entitys derivative instru

ments and hedging activities and their effects on the entitys
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financial position financial performance and cash flows

SFAS 161 applies to all derivative instruments within the scope

of SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative Instruments and

Hedging Activities SFAS 133 as well as related hedged items

bifurcated derivatives and nonderivative instruments that are

designated and qualify as hedging instruments Entities with

instruments subject to SFAS 161 must provide more robust

qualitative disclosures and expanded quantitative disclosures

SFAS 161 is effective prospectively for financial statements

issued for fiscal
years

and interim periods beginning after Novem

ber 15 2008 with early application permitted We do not expect

SFAS 161 to have material effect on our consolidated results

of operations and financial condition

In December 2008 the FASB issued FSP FAS 132R-i

Employers Disclosures about Postretirement Benefit Plan

FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS

Assets This FSP amends SFAS No 132 revised 2003

Employers Disclosures about Pensions and Other Postretire

ment Benefits to provide guidance on an employers disclosures

about plan assets of defined benefit pension or other postretire

ment plan including investment policies and strategies major

categories of plan assets inputs
and valuation techniques used to

measure the fair value of plan assets and significant concentra

tions of risk within plan assets This FSP is effective for fiscal

years ending after December 15 2009 with earlier application

permitted Upon initial application the
provisions of this FSP

are not required for earlier periods that are presented for com

parative purposes We are currently evaluating the disclosure

requirements of this new FSP however its adoption will not

have an impact on our consolidated results of operations and

financial condition

The following table summarizes the financial instruments measured at fair value on recurring basis in the accompanying consolidated

balance sheets

December 31

2008 2007

Assets liabilities in millions Level Level Level Total Total

Available for sale investments $176.2 $153.3 $22.8 $352.3 $420.8

Trading investments 44.1 44.1

Auction rate securities right 6.2 6.2

Suntech warrant 13.8 13.8 306.3

Currency forward contracts 1.6 1.6 0.1

$177.8 $153.3 $86.9 $418.0 $727.2

During November 2008 we accepted an offer by our investment broker to receive an ARS Right that would substantially ensure

recovery to
par

of our ARS between June 2010 and
July 2012 At the same time we reclassified the ARS from the available-for-sale

category to trading We have elected the fair value
option for the ARS Right because its value is highly correlated to the value of the ARS

which are also marked to market We have recorded the ARS Right to other assets and non-operating income other The ARS Right

is the only item eligible for the fair value
option in other assets As of December 31 2008 the ARS Right had value of $6.2 million

which substantially offset the mark-to-market adjustment of our outstanding ARS of $7.3 million To determine the fair value of the

ARS Right we performed Level valuation
using discounted cash flow model which involves making assumptions about expected

future cash flows based on estimates of current market interest rates considering credit quality duration and likelihood of redemption

Suntech warrant consists of fully vested non-forfeitable warrant to purchase common shares of Suntech customer which was

received at the time that MEMC signed long-term supply agreement with Suntech We used lattice model to determine the fair

value of the Suntech warrant Determining the appropriate fair value model and calculating the fair value of the warrant requires the

making of estimates and assumptions including Suntechs stock price volatility interest rate dividends marketability and expected

return requirements The Suntech warrant is considered derivative and is accounted for under SFAS 133 Accounting for Derivative

Instruments and Hedging Activities and accordingly changes in the value of the warrant are recorded in non-operating income

expense The notional amount of the warrant was $205.8 million as of December 31 2008 and 2007
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We acquired less than 10% of the common stock of customer

Gintech at the same time as the execution of long-term supply

agreement with that customer This investment was accounted

for under the cost method of accounting until December 2008

when the restriction on sale became less than one year Subse

quently this investment is accounted for at fair value and is

classified as long-term available-for-sale investment At

December 31 2007 the carrying amount of the common

stock was $12.4 million and it had an estimated fair value of

$54.1 million

The carrying amount of our outstanding long-term debt at

December 31 2008 and 2007 was $32.2 million and $30.9 million

respectively The estimated fair value of that debt was $31.2 million

and $31.8 million respectively at December 31 2008 and 2007

The fair value of our currency forward contracts is measured by

the amount that would have been paid to liquidate and repurchase

all open contracts and was $1.6 million and $0.1 million at Decem

ber 31 2008 and 2007 respectively The notional amount of our

currency
forward contracts was $60.9 million and $41.7 million as

of December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

The following table summarizes changes in Level assets measured at fair value on recurring
basis for the

year
ended December 31 2008

Fair Value Measurements Using Significant Unobservable Inputs Level

In millions Total

Balance at December 31 2007 26.8 306.3 333.1

Total unrealized gains losses

Included in earnings 10.2 7.3 6.2 292.5 303.8

Included in other comprehensive income net 0.5 0.5

Sales redemptions and maturities 12.5 12.5

Transfers to Level net 19.2 51.4 70.6

Balance at December 31 2008 22.8 44.1 $6.2 13.8 86.9

Valuations of our Level trading and available for sale financial instruments were performed using discounted cash flow model

which involved making assumptions
about expected future cash flows based on estimates of current market interest rates Our models

include estimates of market data including yields or spreads of trading instruments that are believed to be similaror comparable when

available and assumptions that are believed to be reasonable on nonobservable
inputs

Such assumptions include the tax status taxable

vs tax-exempt type
of security type of issuer collateralization subordination etc credit quality duration likelihood of redemption

insurance coverage
and degree of liquidity in the current credit markets

During 2007 and 2008 we executed two wafer agreements in which the terms of any additional consideration provided by the customers

have not been finalized If and when the terms are finalized the estimated fair value of the additional consideration if determinable and

material will be recorded to deferred revenue and recognized to income on pro-rata
basis as wafers are shipped under the agreements

ACCUMULATED OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS INCOME
The components of accumulated other comprehensive loss income net of tax were as follows

As of December 31

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Accumulated net translation adjustment 21.9 $36.1

Net unrealized loss on available-for-sale securities 43.2 4.3

Net actuarial loss prior service credit and transition obligation net of $17.8 and $0.3 tax in 2008 and 2007 respectively 34.3 2.0

Total accumulated other comprehensive loss income $55.6 $29.8

Available for Sale

Investments

Trading

Investments

Auction Rate

Securities Right

Suntech

Warrant
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Dollars in millions

Items measured at fair value on recurring basis

Trading securities

Auction rate securities

Available for sale securities

Fixed income finds

Corporate debt securities

Asset-backed securities

Mortgage-backed securities

Auction rate securities

Beneficiary certificates bond find

Equity investment3

Gross Unrealized Gross Unrealized

Gain/Loss Gain/Loss in Other

Recorded in Comprehensive

Cost Earnings Income2 Fair Value

51.4 7.3 44.1

200.0 2.0 33.2 168.8

94.6 8.3 2.3 84.0

46.4 1.2 4.6 40.6

47.5 5.0 7.6 34.9

7.1 0.3 7.4

12.4 16.6

As of December 31

2008 2007

Items measured at fair value on recurring basis

Time deposits

Equity investments at cost3

Carrying Value Carrying Value

$396.4

36.4

0.3

Gross unrealized gains/losses were recorded to non-operating income expense in the consolidated statements of income

The fair value of available for sale investments with unrealixed loss positions was $320.9 million and $299.5 million at December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively

We evaluated the nature of these investments and have recorded other-than-temporary impairments based on corrent and expected future market conditions

the duration of the impairments the extent to which fair value is less than cost the financial condition and near term prospects of the issuer and our
ability

to hold

the security for period of time sufficient to allow for any anticipated recovery in fair value

Equity investments in 2007 included $12.4 million investment of less than 10% of the common stock of Gintech which was acquired at the same time as the

execution of long-term supply agreement with that customer This investment was accounted for under the cost method of accounting until December 2008 when

the restriction on sale became less than one year Subsequently this investment is accounted for at fair value and is classified as long-term available-for-sale

investment The fairvalue of the investmentwas estimated based on the closing stockprice of Gintech on December 312008 In 2007 the fairvalue of the investment

for disclosure purposes was estimated based on the closing stock price on December 31 2007 reduced by the estimated value of regulatory restriction on sale

The value of the regulatory restriction on sale was estimated using Black Scholes model considering the stock price volatility expected term dividend yield and

riskfree interest rate

INVESTMENTS

Short and long-term investments measured and recorded at fair value consist of the following

As of December 312008 As of December 31 2007

Gross Unrealized

Loss in Other

Comprehensive

Cost Income Fair Value

135.2 1.0 134.2

85.8 1.0 84.8

82.8 2.3 80.5

111.7 111.7

9.6 9.6

425.1 4.3 420.8

$425.1 54.3 $420.8

4.2

408.0 12.5 43.2 352.3

Total $459.4 $19.8 543.2 $396.4

$420.8

36.3

12.7

Total investments 433.1 469.8

Less short-term investments 148.4 457.1

Non-current investments $284.7 12.7
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Our investments in asset-backed securities and mortgage backed

securities have all been in continuous loss positions for over twelve

months as of December 31 2008 Corporate debt securities of

$76.6 million have been in continuous loss positions for over twelve

months Our remaining investments are in gain positions or have

been in loss positions for less than twelve months

lihere were no realized gains or losses on available for sale

securities in 2008 2007 or 2006

As of December 31 2008 we held $44.1 million of investments

related to auction rate securities ARS net of other than tempo

rary impairments
of $7.3 million These securities are classified as

trading securities for accounting purposes
and all changes in fair

value are recorded to non-operating income expense other The

ARS are comprised of interest bearing state sponsored student

loan revenue bonds and municipal bonds with varying maturity

periods and typically provide short-term liquidity via an auction

process
that also resets the applicable interest rate at predeter

mined calendar intervals typically every
28 or 35 days In the

event of an auction failing to settle on its respective settlement

date these funds would remain invested at failed interest rate

which is typically higher than the previous market rate until the

next successful auction For those auctions that fail to settle we

will not be able to access those funds until the next successful

auction another buyer is found outside of the auction process

the issuer redeems the security or the security matures As of

December 31 2007 none of our $111.7 million of ARS had

failed Commencing in mid-February 2008 the tightening credit

markets and lesser degree of liquidity in the overall marketplace

caused auctions on our ARS to fail During 2008 we liquidated

approximately $60.3 million of ARS As of December 31 2008

all remaining ARS were classified as non-current assets due to

unsuccessful auctions coupled with current conditions in the

general debt markets which have created
uncertainty as to when

successful auctions will be reestablished VVe do not anticipate having

to sell these securities in order to operate our business As discussed

in Note we received an ARS Right that guaranties
full redemption

of the ARS at par by 2012 Upon receipt of that right we reclassified

the ARS from the available for sale category to trading and recorded

loss of $3.4 million at the time of reclassification

As of December 31 2008 we held $159.5 million in portfolio

comprised of corporate bonds and asset-backed and mortgage-

backed securities net of temporary impairments of $14.5 million

and other than temporary impairments of $14.5 million As of

December 31 2007 we held $299.5 million of investments net

of temporary impairments of $4.3 million
majority

of these

investments maintain floating interest rate based on range

of spreads to the one and three month LIBOR rate While we

believe the decline in fair value related to the temporary impair

ments to be directly attributable to the current global credit

conditions we believe the time to reach the original carrying

value for certain of these investments to be greater than 12 months

Accordingly we have classified $55.0 million of those investments

as non-current assets We do not anticipate having to sell these

securities in order to operate our business

As of December 31 2008 we held $168.8 million in fixed

income funds net of temporary impairments of $33.2 million

with the intent of holding them for period exceeding 12 months

Contractual maturities of our available for sale debt securities

were as follows

Dollars in millions Cost Fair Value

As of December 31 2008

Due in one year or less 59.0 57.1

Due after one year through five years 35.6 26.9

No single maturity 93.9 75.5

$188.5 $159.5

Securities with no single maturity date include mortgage- and asset-backed

securities which have been classified as current or non-current based on

estimated forecasted cash flows

CREDIT CONCENTRATION
Our customers include semiconductor device and solar cell man
ufacturers and are located in various geographic regions including

North America Europe and the Asia Pacific region Our cus

tomers are generally well capitalized and the concentration of

credit risk is considered minimal Sales to specific customers

exceeding 10% of consolidated net sales for the
years

ended

December 31 were as follows

2008 2007 2006

Customer 14.6%

Customer 13.0% 13.1%

Customer 10.4%

Customer 10.2%

Less than 10% of consolidated net sales
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Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Raw materials and supplies $18.8 $16.2

Goods in process 6.4 6.1

Finished goods 56.1 14.1

$81.3 $36.4

At December 31 2008 we had $15.1 million of inventory held

on consignment compared to $8.4 million at December 31 2007

PROPERTY PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
Property plant and equipment consists of the following

As of December 31

Dollars in millions

Land 6.2 6.0

Buildings and improvements 284.8 133.3

Machinery and equipment 1198.3 795.0

1489.3 934.3

Less accumulated depreciation 478.4 377.0

1010.9 557.3

Construction in
progress

30.3 276.7

$1041.2 $834.0

DEBT
We have short-term committed loan agreements renewable

annually of approximately $33.2 million at December 31 2008

of which there were no short-term borrowings outstanding at

December 31 2008 and 2007 Of the $33.2 million committed

short-term loan agreements $10.8 million is unavailable because

it relates to the issuance of third party letters of credit Interest

rates are negotiated at the time of the borrowings

Long-term debt consists of the following

As of December 31

Dollars in millions

Long-term notes with interest payable

semi-annually at rates ranging from 2.1%

to 2.9% due in 2009 through 2017 $32.2 $30.9

Less current portion 6.1 5.3

$26.1 $25.6

On July21 2005 the Company entered into Revolving Credit

Agreement with National City Bank of the Midwest National

City Bank US Bank National Association and such other lend

ing institutions as may from time to time become lenders the

National City Agreement The National City Agreement was

amended on December 20 2006 to reduce the commitment fee

and the interest spread on loans bearing interest at rate determined

by reference to the LIBOR rate Additionally our obligations and

the guaranty obligations of our subsidiaries are no longer secured

by pledge of the capital stock of certain of our domestic and

foreign subsidiaries The National City Agreement provides for

$200.0 million revolving credit facility and has term of five
years

Interest on borrowings under the National City Agreement will

be payable based on the Companys election at LIBOR plus an

applicable margin currently 0.34% or at defined prime rate

plus an applicable margin currently 0.00% The National City

Agreement also provides for us to pay various fees including

commitment fee currently 0.08% on the lenders commitments

The National City Agreement contains covenants typical for

credit arrangements of comparable size such as minimum earn

ings before interest taxes depreciation and amortization and an

interest
coverage

ratio Our obligations under the National City

Agreement are guaranteed by certain of our subsidiaries We are

currently in compliance with all debt covenants

Long-term debt at December 31 2008 totaling $32.2 million

owed to bank by our Japanese subsidiary is guaranteed by us and

is secured by the land buildings and machinery and equipment of

our Japanese subsidiary These loans mature in
years ranging from

2009 to 2017 Such guarantees would require us to satisfy the loan

obligations in the event that the Japanese subsidiary failed to pay

such debt in accordance with its stated terms

We have long-term committed loan
agreements

of approximately

$270.4 million at December 31 2008 of which $32.2 million is

outstanding Of the $270.4 million committed long-term loan

agreements which expire beginning 2009 and ending 2017

$114.9 million is unavailable because it relates to the issuance

of third party letters of credit We pay commitment fees of up

to 0.08 percent on the committed loan agreements

INVENTORIES

Inventories consist of the following

As of December 31

2008 2007

2008 2007
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The
aggregate amounts of long-term debt maturing after

December 31 2008 are as follows

Dollars in millions

6.12009

4.32010

3.22011

3.22012

3.22013

12.2Thereafter

$32.2

10 STOCKHOLDERS EQUITY
Preferred Stock

We have 50.0 million authorized shares of $.01 par
value preferred

stock and no shares issued and outstanding as of December 31

2008 and 2007 The Board of Directors is authorized without

further action by the stockholders to issue any or all of the pre

ferred stock

Common Stock

Holders of our $.01
par

value common stock are entitled to one

vote for each share held on all matters submitted to vote of

stockholders Subject to the rights of any holders of preferred

stock holders of common stock are entitled to receive ratably

such dividends as may be declared by the Board of Directors In

the event of our liquidation dissolution or winding up holders of

our common stock are entitled to share ratably in the distribution

of all assets remaining after payment of liabilities subject to

the rights of any holders of preferred stock The declaration and

payment of future dividends on our common stock if any will

be at the sole discretion of the Board of Directors and is subject

to restrictions as contained in the National City Agreement There

were no dividends declared or paid during the years ended Decem

ber 31 20082007 and 2006

On May 16 2007 our Board of Directors approved $500.0 mil

lion stock repurchase program On July 22 2008 an additional

$500 million was approved increasing the size of the program

to $1 billion The stock repurchase program allows MEMC to

purchase common stock from time to time on the open market

or through privately negotiated transactions using available cash

The specific timing and amount of repurchases will vary based

on market conditions and other factors and may be modified

extended or terminated by the Board of Directors at any time

In 2008 and 2007 we repurchased 6.2 million and 1.8 million

shares of our common stock at total cost of $321.0 million and

$111.2 million respectively From
inception through December 31

2008 we have repurchased 8.0 million shares at total cost of

$432.2 million

Stock-Based Compensation

We have equity incentive plans that provide for the award of

non-qualified stock options
restricted stock performance shares

and restricted stock units to employees non-employee directors

and consultants We issue new shares to satisfy stock option exer

cises As of December 31 2008 there were 11.5 million shares

authorized for future grant under these plans Options to employ

ees are generally granted upon hire and annually or semi-annually

usually with four-year ratable
vesting although certain grants

have three four or five-year cliff vesting
No

option
has term of

more than 10 years The exercise price
of stock options granted

has historically equaled the market price on the date of the grant

One million
options were granted in 2006 with market condi

tion requiring that at the end of four-year term if MEMCs

common stock
price outperformed the SP 500 market index by

specified amount over that four-year period the
options

would

vest These options were forfeited during December 2008 result

ing in reversal of related stock
option expense recognized in

previous periods of approximately $10.5 million for the quarter

ended December 31 2008

MEMC 2008 Annual Report 41



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The following table
presents

information regarding outstanding stock options as of December 31 2008 and changes during the
year

then ended with regard to stock options

The
aggregate intrinsic value in the table above

represents
the

total
pre-tax

intrinsic value the difference between our closing

stock price on the last trading day of 2008 and the exercise price

multiplied by the number of in-the-money options that would

have been received by the option holders had all option holders

exercised their options on December 31 2008 This amount

changes based on the fair market value of our stock The total

intrinsic value of options exercised was $72.7 million $159.9 mil

lion and $46.0 million in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively

Cash received from option exercises under our option plans was

$19.9 million $44.2 million and $17.1 million and the actual tax

benefit realized for the tax deductions from option exercises was

$22.7 million $40.3 million and $14.8 million for 2008 2007

and 2006 respectively

Our weighted-average assumptions are as follows

Black-Scholes

2008 2007 2006

Risk-free interest rate 2.5% 4.6% 4.7%

Expected stock price volatility 50.9% 50.5% 64.9%

Expected term until exercise years

Expected dividends 0.0% 0.0% 0.0%

The weighted-average grant-date fair value per share of options

granted was $27.81 $25.34 and $18.47 for 2008 2007 and 2006

respectively
As of December 31 2008 $42.4 million of total

unrecognized compensation cost related to stock options is expected

to be
recognized over weighted-average period of 1.5 years

Restricted stock units represent the right to receive share of

MEMC stock at designated time in the future provided the

stock unit is vested at the time Restricted stock units granted to

non-employee directors generally vest over two-year period

from the
grant

date Restricted stock units granted to employees

usually have three four or five
year

cliff vesting or four-year

ratable vesting and certain grants are subject to performance con

ditions established at the time of grant Recipients of restricted

stock units do not pay any cash consideration for the restricted

stock units or the underlying shares and do not have the right to

vote or have any other rights of shareholder until such time as

the underlying shares of stock are distributed

The following table presents information regarding outstanding

restricted stock units as of December 31 2008 and changes dur

ing the year then ended

Aggregate Average

Restricted Intrinsic Remaining

Stock Value Contractual

Units in millions Life

Beginning of year 226038

Granted 315514

Converted 26063

Forfeited 47600

End of year 467889 $6.7 years

At December 31 2008 there were no restricted stock units

which were convertible As of December 31 2008 $9.7 million of

total unrecognized compensation cost related to restricted stock

units is expected to be recognized over weighted-average period

of approximately 3.0 years The weighted-average fair value of

restricted stock units on the date of grant was $63.53 $48.91 and

$39.95 in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively We recorded com

pensation expense related to restricted stock units of $5.0 million

$1.3 million and $0.6 million in 20082007 and 2006 respectively

Beginning of
year

Granted

Exercised

Forfeited

Expired

Weighted-Average Aggregate Intrinsic Average Remaining

Shares Exercise Price Value in millions Contractual Life

8643597

1017045

1336244

2846793

173822

End of
year 5303783

Options exercisable at year-end 1769289

$30.72

64.72

14.89

32.82

25.16

$40.29

$26.53

$3.7

$3.3

years

years
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For the years ended December 31 2008 2007 and 2006 we

recognized $19.0 million $40.0 million and $10.5 million of

excess tax benefits from share-based payment arrangements as

cash inflow in financing activities and an operating
outflow

for income taxes payable

Stock-based compensation expense
recorded for the

years

ended December 31 was allocated as follows

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

Cost of goods sold 6.0 4.7 4.3

Marketing and administration 19.4 25.1 13.1

Research and development 2.9 1.4 1.4

Stock-based employee

compensation before

related tax effects 28.3 31.2 18.8

Less Income tax benefit 10.1 11.1 6.9

Total stock-based compensation

expense net of related tax effects $18.2 $20.1 $11.9

11 INCOME PER SHARE

The amount of stock-based compensation cost capitalized into

inventory at December 31 2008 and 2007 was $0.3 million and

$0.1 million

Warrants

In November 2001 TPG acquired beneficial ownership of

approximately 72% of the outstanding stock of MEMC Pursuant

to the 2001 TPG Restructuring Agreement TPG received

warrants to purchase 16.7 million shares of our common stock

We recorded the warrants at their aggregate fair market value of

less than one dollar The warrants were exercisable at an exercise

price of $3.00
per

share of common stock In 2005 TPG exercised

10.0 million warrants on cashless basis resulting in the retirement

of 2.0 million additional warrants held by TPG which were used as

payment for the exercise price In 2007 all remaining warrants

to purchase our common stock were exercised on cashless basis

resulting in the issuance of approximately 4.5 million shares of

our common stock

In 2008 2007 and 2006 basic and diluted earnings per
share EPS were calculated as follows

2008 2007 2006

In 2008 2007 and 2006 options and restricted stock units to purchase 3.5 million 1.0 million and 1.9 million shares respectively

of MEMC stock were excluded from the calculation of diluted EPS because the effect was antidilutive

In millions except per share amounts Basic Diluted Basic Diluted Basic Diluted

EPS numerator

Net income allocable to common stockholders $387.4 $387.4 $826.2 $826.2 $369.3 $369.3

EPS denominator

Weighted-average shares outstanding 226.9 226.9 225.6 225.6 222.1 222.1

Stock options and restricted stock units 1.7 3.1 3.3

Warrants 3.6 4.3

Total shares 226.9 228.6 225.6 232.3 222.1 229.7

Earnings per
share 1.71 1.69 3.66 3.56 1.66 1.61
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12 INCOME TAXES
Income before income tax expense and minority interests consists

of the following

For the year ended

December 31

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

U.S $215.9 465.5 $321.9

Foreign 369.1 646.3 268.6

$585.0 $1111.8 $590.5

Income tax expense benefit consists of the following

Dollars in millions Current Deferred Total

Year ended December 31 2008

U.S federal 45.5 44.0 89.5

State and local 2.3 1.0 1.3

Foreign 100.4 6.8 107.2

$143.6 $51.8 $195.4

Year ended December 31 2007

U.S federal $150.9 2.7 $153.6

State and local 0.6 0.7 0.1

Foreign 113.6 14.9 128.5

$263.9 $18.3 $282.2

Year ended December 31 2006

U.S federal 84.7 $28.0 $112.7

State and local 5.8 1.9 7.7

Foreign 80.5 13.9 94.4

$171.0 $43.8 $214.8

Effective Tax Rate Income tax
expense benefit differed from

the amounts computed by applying the U.S Federal income tax

rate of 35% to income before income taxes equity in loss ofjoint

venture and minority interests as result of the following

For the year ended

December 31

2008 2007 2006

Income tax at federal statutory rate 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%

Increase reduction in income taxes

Effect of foreign operations

and repatriation 2.1 8.4 0.2

State income taxes net of

federal benefit 0.4 0.5 0.9

Settlements with taxing authorities 3.7

Other net 0.4 1.7 0.7

Effective tax rate 33.4% 25.4% 36.4%

The Effect of foreign operations
and

repatriation includes the

net reduced taxation of foreign profits from combining jurisdictions

with rates above and below the U.S federal statutory rate and the

impact ofwithholding taxes For 2008 the net increase is result

of the non-taxable loss for the mark-to-market adjustment associ

ated with the Suntech warrant The 2007 amount includes ben

efit of $23.4 million associated with the U.S foreign tax credit

offset by an increase in expense of $29.1 million related to divi

dends and foreign withholding taxes Additionally benefit of

$77.3 million was recognized in relation to non-taxable gain on

warrant income The 2006 amount includes benefit of $16.9 mil

lion associated with the U.S foreign tax credit offset by an

increase in expense of $15.8 million related to dividends and for

eign withholding taxes

Certain of our Asian subsidiaries have been granted conces

sionary tax rate of between 0% and 10% on all
qualifying income

for five
year period based on investments in certain machinery

and equipment and other development and expansion activities

resulting in tax benefit for 2008 of
approximately $37.0 million

Under the awards the income tax rate for qualifying income will

be taxed at an incentive tax rate lower than the corporate tax rate

The last of these incentives will
expire in 2012
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Uncertain Tax Positions Unrecognized tax benefits are tax

benefits claimed in our tax returns that do not meet the recogni

tion and measurement standards outlined in FIN 48 As result

of the adoption of FIN 48 onJanuary 2007 we recorded an

increase in retained earnings and decrease in other long-term

liabilities of $0.5 million for uncertain tax positions
The total

amount of unrecognized tax benefits net of federal state and

local deductions at the date of adoption was $49.2 million all of

which would favorably affect our effective tax rate if recognized

Uncertain tax benefits including accrued interest and penalties

are included as component of other long-term liabilities because

we do not anticipate that settlement of the liabilities will require

payment of cash within the next twelve months At December 31

2008 and 2007 we had $55.9 million and $95.7 million respec

tively of unrecognized tax benefits net of federal state and local

deductions associated with open tax years
for which we are

subject to audit in various federal state and foreign jurisdictions

All of our unrecognized tax benefits at December 31 2008 and

2007 would favorably affect our effective tax rate if recognized

The change to the reserve in 2008 is due to decrease in the reserve

of $44.0 million including
related interest reducing income tax

expense by $29.5 million and increasing income taxes payable by

$14.5 million due to the closure of the Internal Revenue Service

examination in the United States of the 2004 and 2005 audit

years as well as earnings generated by foreign subsidiaries whose

earnings are being permanently reinvested and taxed at lower

rates The change to the reserve during 2007 was related to the

deductibility of interest on senior subordinated notes stemming

from the partial acquisition
of common shares by TPG and sub

sequent
debt restructuring refinements of our positions related

to the TPG acquisition
from 2001 and other worldwide tax items

The entire amount would favorably affect our effective tax rate

if recognized We are subject to examination in various jurisdic

tions for the 2002 through 2007 tax years

reconciliation of the beginning and ending amount of
gross

unrecognized tax benefits is as follows

For the year ended

December 31

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Beginning of
year

97.1 $51.0

Additions based on tax positions

related to the current year
0.3 1.0

Reductions additions for tax positions

of prior years 0.4 45.1

Reductions related to settlements

with taxing authorities 44.0

End of year
53.0 $97.1

The accrual of interest begins in the first reporting period

that interest would begin to accrue under the applicable tax law

Penalties when applicable are accrued in the financial reporting

period in which the uncertain tax position is taken on tax return

We recognize interest and penalties related to uncertain tax

positions in income tax expense which is consistent with our

historical policy During the
years

ended December 31 2008 and

2007 we recognized approximately $2.2 million and $3.2 million

respectively in interest and penalties and had approximately

$2.7 million and $3.7 million accrued at December 31 2008 and

2007 respectively for the payment of interest and penalties

Deferred Taxes The tax effects of the major items recorded as

deferred tax assets and liabilities are

As of December 31

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Deferred tax assets

Inventories 5.1 1.6

Expense accruals 17.6 21.3

Property plant and equipment 23.0 51.3

Pension medical and other employee benefits 11.7 17.0

Net operating loss carryforwards

state and foreign 2.3 3.3

Capitalized RD 6.8 7.5

Other 4.4 0.1

Total deferred tax assets 70.9 102.1

Deferred tax liabilities

Other 0.2 0.8

Total deferred tax liabilities 0.2 0.8

Net deferred tax assets $70.7 $101.3
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Our deferred tax assets and liabilities netted by taxing

location are in the following captions in the Consolidated

Balance Sheets

As of December 31

2007Dollars in millions 2008

Current deferred tax assets net

recorded in prepaids and other

current assets 1.0 12.0

Non-current deferred tax assets net 69.7 89.3

$70.7 $101.3

At December 31 2008 and 2007 the Company had $2.3 mil

lion and $3.3 million deferred tax asset for state income tax loss

and credit carryforwards These carryforwards are scheduled to

expire in 2026 if unused

Federal and state income taxes have not been provided on

accumulated but undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries

aggregating approximately $933.4 million and $945.8 million at

December 31 2008 and 2007 respectively because such
earnings

have been permanently reinvested in the business The determi

nation of the amount of the unrecognized deferred tax liability

related to our undistributed earnings is not practicable

13 EMPLOYEE-RELATED LIABILITIES

Pension and Other Post-Employment Benefit Plans

Prior to January 2002 our defined benefit pension plan covered

most U.S employees Benefits for this plan were based on years

of service and qualifying compensation during the final
years

of

employment Effective January 2002 we amended our defined

benefit plan to discontinue future benefit accruals for certain par

ticipants In addition effective January 2002 no new partici

pants
will be added to the plan

We also have non-qualified plan under the Employee Retire

ment Income Security Act of 1974 This plan provides benefits in

addition to the defined benefit plan Eligibility for participation

in this plan requires coverage under the defined benefit plan and

other specific circumstances The non-qualified plan has also

been amended to discontinue future benefit accruals

Prior to January 2002 our health care plan provided

postretirement medical benefits to full-time U.S employees who

met minimum age and service requirements The plan is contrib

utory
with retiree contributions adjusted annually and contains

other cost-sharing features such as deductibles and coinsurance

Effective January 2002 we amended our health care plan to

discontinue eligibility for
postretirement medical benefits for

certain
participants

In addition effective January 2002 no

new participants will be eligible for postretirement medical

benefits under the plan During 2006 negative plan amend

ment was recorded related to the clarification of contributions to

be paid by MEMC resulting in the recording of approximately

$11.6 million of unrecognized prior service credit This credit

will be amortized to income using
the

straight-line method over

the remaining life expectancy of those
participants

We adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

No 158 Employers Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension

and Other Postretirement Plans SFAS 158 as ofDecember 31

2006 except for the change in measurement date provisions

which was adopted as of December 31 2008 SFAS 158 requires

an employer to recognize the overfunded or underfunded status

of defined benefit postretirement plan as an asset or liability

in its statement of financial position and to recognize changes in

that funded status in the
year

in which the changes occur through

comprehensive income As result of the adoption of the recog

nition provisions of SFAS 158 as of December 31 2006 we

reclassified $10.3 million from accrued liabilities to pension and

post-employment liabilities because we had pension assets exceed

ing the expected beneficiary payments in 2007 In addition we

reclassified $11.5 million of unrecognized prior service credit

and net unrealized gains from the pension and post-employment

liabilities to accumulated other comprehensive income which

reduced our recorded liabilities SFAS 158 also requires an employer

to measure the funded status of plan as of the date of its year-end

statement of financial position This requirement was effective and

adopted as of December 31 2008 As result of the adoption we

recorded an adjustment to the 2008 beginning retained
earnings

of $0.8 million
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Net periodic
benefit cost consists of the following

Year ended December 31

Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006 2008 2007 2006

Service cost 3.0 3.3 3.5 0.1 0.1 0.3

Interest cost 10.5 9.8 9.4 1.6 1.6 2.3

Expected return on plan assets 12.6 9.4 8.5

Amortization of prior service cost 0.5 0.5

Net actuarial loss gain 0.7 1.8 2.1 1.4 0.9 0.6

Settlement and curtailment charges
0.1

Net periodic benefit cost 1.6 5.6 6.5 $0.2 0.3 2.0

To determine pension and other postretirement
and post-employment benefit measurements for the plans we used measurement

date of September 30 in 2007 and 2006 and as result of the adoption of the SFAS 158 measurement date provision measurement

date of December31 was used in 2008 Net periodic benefit cost above reflects twelve month period and does not include adjustments

to the 2008 beginning retained earnings
of $0.7 million and $0.1 million for the pension and post-employment plans respectively

related to the adoption of SFAS 158

The following is table of actuarial assumptions used to determine the net periodic benefit cost

Year ended December 31

2008 2007 2006

Weighted-average assumptions

Discount rate 6.39% 5.75% 5.50% 6.00% 5.75% 5.50%

Expected return on plan assets 8.30% 8.00% 8.00% NA NA NA

Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 3.75% 4.00% 3.75% 3.75% 4.00%

Current medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 8.00% 7.25% 7.25%

Ultimate medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 5.75% 5.25% 5.25%

Year the rate reaches ultimate trend rate NA NA NA 2014 2009 2008

Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

2008 2007 2006
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The following summarizes the change in benefit obligation change in plan assets and funded status of the plans

Year ended December 31

Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2008 2007

Change in benefit obligation

Benefit obligation at beginning of
year $173.9 $180.4 28.7 29.0

Service cost 3.8 3.3 0.1 0.1

Interest cost 13.0 9.8 2.0 1.7

Plan participants contributions 1.5 2.5

Actuarial gain loss 4.4 7.4 2.4 1.1

Gross benefits paid 17.7 12.6 3.9 5.7
Settlements 0.2

Currency exchange loss 1.9 0.6

Benefit obligation at end of year $179.3 $173.9 26.0 28.7

Change in plan assets

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of
year $137.1 $119.2

Actual return on plan assets 31.2 17.8

Employer contributions 73.9 12.9 2.4 3.2

Plan participants contributions 1.5 2.5

Gross benefits paid 17.7 12.6 3.9 5.7
Settlements 0.2

Currency exchange loss 0.1

Fair value of plan assets at end of year $162.0 $137.1

Net unfunded status 17.3 36.8 $26.0 $28.7

Contributions after measurement date 0.4 0.8

Net amount recognized 17.3 36.4 $26.0 $27.9

Amounts recognized in statement of financial position

Long-term assets 6.0

Accrued liabilities current 0.8 0.8 2.2 2.9
Pension and

post-employment liabilities 22.5 35.6 23.8 25.0

Net amount recognized 17.3 36.4 $26.0 $27.9

Amounts recognized in accumulated other comprehensive income before tax

Pension Plans Health Care and Other Plans

Year ended December 31 2008 2007 2008 2007

Dollars in millions

Net actuarial loss gain $68.9 $18.8 6.4 5.5
Prior service credit cost 10.4 11.1

Net amount recognized $68.9 $18.8 $16.8 $16.6

48 MEMC 2008 Annual Report



NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The estimated amounts that will be amortized from accumulated

other comprehensive income into net periodic benefit cost in 2009

are as follows

Health Care

Pension Plans and Other PlansDollars in millions

Actuarial loss gain $5.1 $1.8

Prior service credit cost 0.5

$5.1 $2.3

The following is table of the actuarial assumptions used to

determine the benefit obligation

Year ended December 31

Health Care

Pension Plans and Other Plans

2008 2007 2008 2007

Weighted-average assumptions

Discount rate 6.32% 6.15% 6.20% 6.00%

Rate of compensation increase 3.75% 3.75% 3.75% 3.75%

Current medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 8.00%

Ultimate medical cost trend rate NA NA NA 5.00%

Year the rate reaches

ultimate trend rate NA NA NA 2013

The composition
of our plans and

age
of our participants are

such that as of December 31 2008 the medical cost trend rate

no longer had an effect on the valuation of our health care plans

Pension plan assets are invested primarily in marketable securi

ties including common stocks bonds and interest-bearing

deposits The weighted-average
allocation of pension benefit plan

assets at December 31 2008 and September 30 2007 was

Actual Allocation

Asset Category

Equity securities 5070% 52% 65%

Fixed income securities 3555% 48% 31%

All other 010% 4%

Total 100% 100%

The investment objectives of our pension plan assets are

as follows

To achieve favorable relative return as compared

with inflation

To achieve an above average total rate of return relative

to capital markets

Preservation of capital through broad diversification among

asset classes which react as nearly as possible independently

to varying economic and market circumstances and

Long-term growth with degree of emphasis on stable

growth rather than short-term capital gains

Our
pension expense and pension liability are actuarially

determined and we use various actuarial assumptions including

the discount rate rate of salary increase and expected return on

assets to estimate our pension costs and obligations
We determine

the expected return on plan assets based on our pension plans

intended long-term asset mix The expected investment return

assumption
used for the pension plans

reflects what the plans can

reasonably expect to earn over long-term period considering

plan target
allocations The expected return includes an inflation

assumption and adds real returns for the asset mix and pre

mium for active management and subtracts
expenses

While the

assumed expected rate of return on plan assets in 2008 was 8.3%

the actual return experienced in our pension plan assets in the

comparable period in 2008 was loss of 17.7% We consult with

the plans actuaries to determine discount rate assumption for

pension
and other postretirement and post-employment plans

that reflects the characteristics of our plans including expected

cash outflows from our plans and utilize an analytical tool that

incorporates
the

concept
of hypothetical yield curve

2008

Target Allocation 2008 2007
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Our pension obligations are funded in accordance with

provisions of Federal law Contributions to our pension and post-

employment plans in 2008 totaled $73.9 million and $2.4 million

respectively During 2008 we made $63.5 million contribution

to our U.S pension plan in excess of our minimum funding

requirements which
put

the plan in an overfunded status

Amounts previously recorded to Pension and post employment

liabilities related to the U.S pension plan were reduced to zero

and the overfunded status of $6.0 million at December 31 2008

was recorded to Other assetslong-term Our
foreign pension

plans and health care and other plans continue to maintain an

unfunded status as of December 31 2008 and are recorded in

Pension and post-employment liabilities Except for our U.S

pension plan at the end of 2008 the accumulated benefit obliga

tion for each of our plans exceeded the fair value of plan assets

in both 2007 and 2008 As of December 31 2008 the accumu

lated benefit
obligation for our U.S pension plan was $148.5

million and the fair value of plan assets was $158.9 million

We
expect contributions to our pension and post-employment

plans in 2009 to be
approximately $1.1 million and $2.2 million

respectively.The projected benefit obligation accumulated benefit

obligation and fair value of
plan assets for pension plans with

an accumulated benefit
obligation in excess of plan assets were

as follows

Pension Plans

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

Projected benefit obligation end of year $179.3 $173.9

Accumulated benefit obligation end of year $167.5 $163.4

Fair value of plan assets end of year $162.0 $137.1

We estimate that the future benefits payable for the pension

and other postretirement plans are as follows

Health Care

and Other PlansDollars in millions Pension Plans

2009 $11.0 $2.2

2010 11.7 2.1

2011 12.3 2.0

2012 13.2 2.0

2013 14.6 2.0

20142018 78.9 9.5

Defined Contribution Plans

We sponsor defined contribution plan under Section 401k of

the Internal Revenue Code
covering

all U.S salaried and hourly

employees and defined contribution plan in Taiwan covering most

salaried and hourly employees of our Taiwan subsidiary Our costs

included in our statements of income totaled $5.7 million $5.6 mil

lion and $5.4 million for 20082007 and 2006 respectively

Other Employee-Related Liabilities

Employees of our subsidiaries in Italy and Korea are covered by

an end of service entitlement that provides payment upon termi

nation of employment Contributions to these
plans are based on

statutory requirements and are not actuarially determined The

accrued
liability was $28.8 million at December 31 2008 and

$35.1 million at December 31 2007 and is included in other

long-term liabilities and accrued wages and salaries on our bal

ance sheet The accrued liability is based on the vested benefits to

which the employee is entitled assuming employee termination

at the measurement date

14 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES
Leases and Purchase Obligations

We lease buildings equipment and automobiles under operating leases Rental
expense was $5.7 million $5.2 million and $5.3 million

in 2008 2007 and 2006 respectively The total future commitment under
operating leases as of December 31 2008 was $13.4 million

of which $12.7 million is noncancellable Our operating lease obligations as of December 31 2008 were as follows

Payments Due By Period

Dollars in millions Total 2009 2010 2011 2012 2013 Thereafter

Operating leases $13.4 $3.6 $2.5 $2.0 $1.6 $1.6 $2.1
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We maintain long-term agreement with supplier in connec

tion with the purchase of certain raw materials Our minimum

required
annual purchase under this agreement was $45.3 million

in 2008 and is $48.6 million in each of the years from 2009

through 2018 During 2008 $13.7 million charge was recorded

to cost of goods sold related to the estimated shortfall to our

annual purchase obligation associated with take or pay agreement

for raw material supply to our Pasadena facility

Indemnification

We have agreed to indemnify some of our customers against

claims of infringement of the intellectual
property rights of others

in our sales contracts with these customers Historically we have

not paid any claims under these indemnification obligations and

we do not have any pending indemnification claims as of Decem

ber 31 2008

Legal Proceedings

We are involved in various legal proceedings which arise in the

ordinary course of business Although it is not possible to predict

the outcome of these matters we believe that the ultimate outcome

of these proceedings individually and in the aggregate will not

have material adverse effect on our financial position cash flows

or results of operations
In April2008 we reached net favorable

settlements in certain outstanding legal proceedings resulting in

an increase to operating income of approximately $4.3 million

for the year

S.O.I.TEC Silicon on Insulator Technologies S.A vs MEMC
Electronic IViaterials Inc

On May 19 2008 Soitec and Commissariat LEnergie Atomique

CEA filed complaint for patent infringement against
MEMC

in the U.S District Court for the District of Delaware Civil Action

No 8-292 alleging infringement including willful infringement

by MEMC of three U.S patents related to silicon-on-insulator

SOI technology and requested damages and an injunction pre

venting
further infringement of the three patents

listed in Soitecs

complaint On July 2008 MEMC filed motion to dismiss

the complaint or in the alternative for more definite statement

On February 20 2009 the district court denied our motion to

dismiss and as result our answer is due in early
March 2009

Although the case is still in the initial pleading stage we believe

that Soitecs suit against us alleging infringement of the three

patents named in the complaint has no merit and we are asserting

vigorous defense against
these claims We do not believe that

this case should it be decided against MEMC in whole or in

part will have material adverse effect on us Due to uncertainty

regarding the litigation process
the outcome of these matters are

unpredictable and the results of these cases could be unfavorable

for MEMC

SemiMaterials Co Ltd vs MEMC Electronic Materials Inc

and MEMC Pasadena Inc

On September 28 2006 Semi-Materials Co Ltd Semi
Materials filed complaint against MEMC in the U.S District

Court for the Eastern District of Missouri Case No 406-CV-

01426-FRB alleging breach of contract unjust enrichment

fraud and conversion and seeking specific performance all

related to series of purchase orders for chunk polysilicon
and

polysilicon
solar ingot MEMC filed its answer in the case in

December 2006 On MEMCs motion the Court dismissed

Semi-Materials conversion claim

The
parties

entered into settlement discussions for this case in

November 2007 and December 2007 Semi-Materials claims that

binding settlement was reached as result of those late 2007 dis

cussions MEMC denies Semi-Materials allegation that bind

ing settlement was reached In January 2008 Semi-Materials

moved the trial court to enforce the alleged settlement terms On

March 17 2008 the trial court sustained Semi-Materials motion

and found that binding settlement terms had been reached as

result of the late 2007 negotiations
between Semi-Materials and

MEMCThis decision was immediately appealed by MEMC to

the United States Court of Appeals for the Eighth Circuit and

enforcement of the trial courts order was stayed pending that

appeal The Eighth Circuit heard oral argument on September 26

2008 Just prior to the September26 oral argument Semi-Materi

als informed MEMC and the Eighth Circuit that Semi-Materials

no longer sought enforcement of the alleged settlement agreement

although Semi-Materials still claims that binding settlement

was reached in late 2007 Semi-Materials instead now requests

that the Eighth Circuit vacate the trial courts March 2008 order

enforcing the alleged settlement agreement
and remand the case

back to the trial court for further proceedings As of February 24

2009 the Eighth Circuit had not issued decision in the appeal

On March 31 2008 Semi-Materials and its affiliate SMC

Shanghai SMC filed two additional lawsuits against MEMC
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one in the United States District Court for the Southern District

of Texas Case No 408-CV-00991 the Texas Action and

another in the United States District Court for the Eastern District

of Missouri Case No 408-C V-00434-JCH the Missouri

Action In both cases SMC
alleges that MEMC Pasadena

Inc MEMC Pasadena breached an agreement with SMC for

SMC to act as MEMCs exclusive sales
agent in China ii

MEMC Pasadena breached an agreement with Semi-Materials

for Semi-Materials to act as MEMC Pasadenas exclusive sales

agent in Korea iiiMEMC tortiously interfered with the pur

ported sales
agency agreements

between MEMC Pasadena and

SMC and Semi-Materials and iv MEMC tortiously interfered

with separate sales
agency agreement Semi-Materials claims

existed with an unrelated
party

In the Missouri Action Semi-

Materials also claims that MEMC tortiously interfered with an

expectancy for an on-going business
relationship Semi-Materials

claims existed with the unrelated
party

No discovery has been undertaken in the Texas Action and it

has been stayed pending resolution of the
appeal in the first case

Discovery is ongoing in the Missouri Action

We do not believe that the Semi-Materials cases should they

ultimately be decided against MEMC in whole or in part will

have material adverse effect on us Due to uncertainty regarding

the litigation process the outcome of these matters are unpredict

able and the results of these cases could be unfavorable for MEMC

Minneapolis FirefightersReliefAssociation MEMC
Electronic Materials Inc et al

On September 26 2008 putative class action lawsuit was filed

in the U.S District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri by

plaintiff Minneapolis Firefighters ReliefAssociation
asserting

claims against MEMC and Nabeel Gareeb MEMCs former

ChiefExecutive Officer On October 10 2008 substantially

similarputative class action lawsuit was filed by plaintiff Donald

Jameson against MEMC Mr Gareeb and Ken Hannah MEMCs
Chief Financial Officer These cases purportedly are brought on

behalf of all persons who acquired shares ofMEMCs common

stock betweenJune 132008 andJuly23 2008 inclusive the

Class Period Both complaints allege that during the Class

Period MEMC failed to disclose certain material facts regarding

MEMCs operations and performance which had the effect of

artificially inflating MEMCs stock price in violation of Section

10b of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 the Exchange Act
Plaintiffs further allege that Messrs Gareeb and Hannah are

subject to liability under Section 20a of the Act as control per

sons of MEMC Plaintiffs seek certification of the putative class

unspecified compensatory damages interest and costs as well

as ancillary relief On December 12 2008 these actions were

consolidated and the Court appointed Mahendra Patel as lead

plaintiff Plaintiff filed consolidated amended complaint on

February 23 2009 Defendants must answer or move to dismiss

by April 10 2009

Brian Larkowski John Marren et al

On November 2008 Brian Larkowski purported shareholder

of MEMC filed derivative action in the Circuit Court of St

Charles County Missouri
against defendants John Marren Peter

Blackmore Nabeel Gareeb Marshall Turner RobertJ Boehlke

Douglas Marsh William Stevens James Williams and

Michael McNamara
collectively Individual Defendants and

MEMC as nominal defendant Each individual defendant is

current or former officer and/or director of MEMC The lawsuit

alleges breach of fiduciary duty abuse of control gross misman

agement waste of
corporate assets and unjust enrichment based

on allegations of conduct similar to that alleged in the putative

class action lawsuit described above On December 19 2008 the

Court entered stipulated order staying the derivative action pend

ing resolution of
any motions to dismiss in the putative class action

On January 30 2009 second putative derivative plaintiff

served demand letter on the Companys Board of Directors

requesting that it investigate factual allegations similarto those

underlying the Larkowski derivative action

Jerry Jones MEMC Electronic Materials Inc et al

On December 26 2008 putative class action lawsuit was filed

in the U.S District Court for the Eastern District of Missouri by

plaintiff JerryJones purportedly on behalf of all participants in

and beneficiaries of MEMCs 401k Savings Plan the Plan
between September 2007 and December 26 2008 inclusive

the Class Period The complaint asserts claims against MEMC
and certain of its directors employees and/or other unnamed

fiduciaries of the Plan The complaint alleges that the defendants

breached certain fiduciary duties owed under the Employee

Retirement Income
Security Act ERISA generally asserting

that the defendants failed to make full disclosure of the risks

to the Plans
participants of investing in MEMCs stock to the

detriment of the Plans
participants and beneficiaries and that

Companys stock should not have been made available as an
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investment alternative for the Plans participants The misstate

ments alleged in the complaint significantly overlap with the

misstatements alleged in the federal securities class action

described above The complaint seeks unspecified monetary

damages including losses the participants and beneficiaries of

the Plan allegedly experienced due to their investment through

the Plan in MEMCs stock equitable relief and an award of

attorneys fees

MEMC believes these actions are without merit and we will

assert vigorous defense Due to the inherent uncertainties of

litigation we cannot predict the ultimate outcome or resolution of

the foregoing proceedings or estimate the amounts of or potential

range of loss with
respect to these proceedings An unfavorable

outcome could have material adverse impact on our business

results of operations
and financial condition We have indemnifi

cation agreements
with each of our present and former directors

and officers under which we are generally required to indemnify

each such director or officer against expenses including attorneys

fees judgments fines and settlements arising from actions such

as the lawsuits described above subject to certain exceptions as

described in the indemnification agreements

15 GEOGRAPHIC SEGMENTS
We are engaged in one reportable segmentthe design

manufacture and sale of silicon wafers

Geographic financial information is as follows

Net Sales to Customers

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

United States 489.0 462.0 521.3

Foreign 1515.5 1459.8 1019.3

Total $2004.5 $1921.8 $1540.6

Foreign revenues were derived from sales to the following

countries

Dollars in millions 2008 2007 2006

China 371.8 405.0 218.1

Japan 47.5 94.5 74.7

Korea 279.3 299.7 188.1

Taiwan 505.4 324.9 273.4

Other foreign countries 311.5 335.7 265.0

Total $1515.5 $1459.8 $1019.3

Net sales are attributed to countries based on the location

of the customer

Our net sales attributable to polysilicon for the
years

ended

December 31 20082007 and 2006 were 18.6% 22.5% and

18.5% as percent
of total sales respectively

Long-Lived Assets Net ofAccumulated Depreciation

Dollars in millions 2008 2007

United States 416.2 351.9

Japan 202.6 162.1

Taiwan 272.7 225.5

Italy
135.4 73.4

Other foreign countries 87.4 76.8

Total $1114.3 $889.7

16 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

In late February 2009 we revised our estimate for the allowance

for doubtful accounts as of December 31 2008 due to the

increased visibility in 2009 of adverse macroeconomic conditions

existing as of December 31 2008 Taking into account that two

semiconductor wafer customers filed for bankruptcy protection

during late January2009 and early February 2009 we performed

additional analysis of our at risk receivables as of December 31

2008 Accordingly we have increased our allowance for doubtful

accounts and recorded additional bad debt
expense

of $4.5 million

during the
quarter

ended December 31 2008

During February 2009 we amended two of our long-term

solar wafer agreements The
aggregate revenues under the agree

ments for sales in 2009 and aggregate revenues for sales over the

remaining term of the contracts remain unchanged but volume

increases and price
reductions for 2009 have been effectuated

There were no changes to the requirements for security deposits

or letters of credit other than to extend the time to comply fully

with the 2009 letter of credit requirement for one of the agree

ments The amendments did not have an impact on our 2008

consolidated results of operations and financial condition
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED
PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

The Board of Directors and Stockholders

MEMC Electronic Materials Inc

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of

MEMC Electronic Materials Inc and subsidiaries the Company

as of December 31 2008 and 2007 and the related consolidated

statements of income stockholders
equity

and cash flows for each

of the
years

in the three-year period ended December 31 2008

We also have audited the Companys internal control over financial

reporting as of December 31 2008 based on criteria established in

Internal Control
Integrated

Framework issued by the Committee of

Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission COSO
The Companys management is responsible for these consolidated

financial statements for maintaining effective internal control

over financial reporting and for its assessment of the effectiveness

of internal control over financial reporting Our responsibility is

to
express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements

and an opinion on the Companys internal control over financial

reporting based on our audits

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of

the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board United States

Those standards require that we plan and perform the audits to

obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements

are free of material misstatement and whether effective internal

control over financial reporting was maintained in all material

respects Our audits of the consolidated financial statements

included examining on test basis evidence supporting the

amounts and disclosures in the financial statements assessing

the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by

management and evaluating the overall financial statement pre

sentation Our audit of internal control over financial reporting

included
obtaining an understanding of internal control over

financial reporting assessing the risk that material weakness

exists and
testing

and
evaluating the design and operating effec

tiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk Our audits

also included performing such other procedures as we considered

necessary in the circumstances We believe that our audits pro

vide reasonable basis for our opinions

companys internal control over financial reporting is process

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial
reporting

and the preparation of financial statements

for external
purposes in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles companys internal control over financial

reporting includes those policies and procedures that pertain to

the maintenance of records that in reasonable detail accurately

and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets

of the company provide reasonable assurance that transac

tions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of financial

statements in accordance with U.S generally accepted accounting

principles and that receipts and expenditures of the company are

being made only in accordance with authorizations of manage

ment and directors of the company and provide reasonable

assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthor

ized
acquisition use or disposition of the companys assets that

could have material effect on the financial statements

Because of its inherent limitations internal control over financial

reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements Also projec

tions of
any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject

to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes

in conditions or that the degree of compliance with the policies or

procedures may deteriorate

In our opinion the consolidated financial statements referred

to above
present fairly in all material respects the financial posi

tion of MEMC Electronic Materials Inc and subsidiaries as of

December 31 2008 and 2007 and the results of its operations and

its cash flows for each of the
years in the three-year period ended

December 31 2008 in conformity with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles Also in our opinion MEMC Electronic

Materials Inc and subsidiaries maintained in all material
respects

effective internal control over financial reporting as of December 31

2008 based on criteria established in Internal ControlIntegrated

Framework issued by the COSO
As discussed in Note 13 to the consolidated financial statements

the Company adopted Statement of Financial Accounting Standards

SFAS No 158 EmployersAccountingfor DejlnedBenejlt Pension

and Other Post retirement Plans effective December 31 2006 and

the measurement date provisions as of December 31 2008

As discussed in Note to the consolidated financial statements

the Company adopted Financial Accounting Standards Board

Interpretation No 48 Accountingfor Uncertainty in Income Taxes

an interpretation of
Statement

ofFinancialAccounting Standard

No 109 effective
January 2007 and SFAS No 157 Fair Value

Measurements as ofJanuary 2008

LLP

St Louis Missouri

February 27 2009
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Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We carried out an evaluation as of December 31 2008 under the

supervision
and with the participation of our management includ

ing our Chief Executive Officer and ChiefFinancial Officer of the

effectiveness of the design and operation of our disclosure con

trols and procedures as defined in Rules 13-15e and 15d-15e

under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 as amended Based

upon that evaluation our Chief Executive Officer and Chief

Financial Officer have concluded that our disclosure controls

and procedures were effective as of December 31 2008

Managements Report on Internal Control Over

Financial Reporting

Our management is responsible
for establishing and maintaining

adequate internal control over financial reporting as defined in

Rules 13a-15f and 15d-15f under the Securities Exchange

Act of 1934 Our internal control over financial
reporting is

designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability

of financial reporting and the preparation
of financial statements

for external purposes in accordance with U.S generally accepted

accounting principles

As of December 31 2008 management conducted an assess

ment of the effectiveness of the Companys internal control over

financial reporting based upon the framework issued by the

Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway

Commission in Internal ControlIntegrated Framework Based

on managements assessment utilizing these criteria we believe

that as of December 31 2008 our internal control over finahcial

reporting was effective

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Companys internal control

over financial reporting during the most recently completed fiscal

quarter and year ended December 31 2008 that have materially

affected or are reasonably likely to materially affect the Companys

internal control over financial reporting
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS

BOARD OF DIRECTORS William Stevens13 Ken Hannah

Chairman BBI Group Inc Senior VP and ChiefFinancial OfficerPeter Blackmore 23

President and ChiefExecutive Officer
Marshall Turner John Kauffmann

UTStarcom
Interim

ChiefExecutive Officer ofMEMC Senior VP Sales Customer Service

Former
Chief Executive Officer of and MarketingRobert Boehike 123

Former Executive Vice President and
Toppan Photomasks

Brad Kohn
ChiefFinancial Officer ofKLA-Tencor

James Williams Vice President General Counsel and

Partner Texas
Pacflc Group Corporate SecretaryAhmad Chatila

President and ChiefExecutive Officer

OFFICERS Dr Shaker Sadasivam

Senior VP Research and Development
John Marren Mignon Cabrera

Chairman of the Board of MEMC and Senior VP Human Resources

Marshall Turner
Partner Texas

Pacific Group

Ahmad Chatila
Interim Chief Executive Officer

Douglas Marsh 12
President and ChiefExecutive Officer

Board Committees
Former Vice President business

integration Audit

institutional investor relations Mike Cheles
Compensation

ASM Lithography Inc Vice President Information Technology Nominating and Corporate Governance

and
Chieflnformation Officer

Mike McNamara

ChiefExecutive Officer ofFlextronics

International Ltd

RECONCILIATION OF GAAP EPS TO NON-GAAP EPS

2008 2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

GAAP $1.69 $3.56 $1.61 $1.10 $1.02 $0.53

Cash tax difference 0.48 0.49 0.45 0.15 0.28 0.10

Non-GAAP $2.17 $4.05 $2.06 $0.95 $0.74 $0.63

Loss gain on warrants at cash tax rate 1.08 0.80 0.07

Non-GAAP excluding warrants $3.25 $3.25 $1.99 $0.95 $0.74 $0.63

Our estimated cash tax rate is the estimated tax payable on our tax returns as percentage of estimated annual
pre-tax

book income The annual cash

tax rate is estimated quarterly by reference to book taxable income and then taking into account temporary book/tax differences and any tax basis

items reflected on our annual tax returns The company uses an estimated cash tax rate to adjust for the historical variation in the effective book

tax rate associated with the reversal of valuation allowances foreign tax credits and loss carry-forwards that are not tied to actual operating results

because the company believes that the cash tax rate provides more transparent view of the companys operating results
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STOCKHOLDER AND COMPANY INFORMATION

CORPORATE OFFICE

MEMC Electronic Materials Inc

501 Pearl Drive City of OFallon

St Peters Missouri 63376

636 474-5000

www.memc.com

TRANSFER AGENT
AND REGISTRAR

Computershare Investor Services L.L.C

North LaSalle Street

P.O Box A3504

Chicago Illinois 60690-3504

312 360-5433

www.computershare.com

STOCKHOLDER INQUIRIES

Inquiries regarding address corrections

lost certificates changes of registration

stock certificate holdings
and other

stockholder account matters should be

directed to MEMCs transfer agent

Computershare Investor Services L.L.C

at the address or phone number above

COMMON STOCK LISTING

MEMCs common stock is traded on the

New York Stock Exchange under the symbol

WFR On December 31 2008 the

Company had 264 stockholders of record

FORM 10-K

Stockholders may obtain copy
of MEMCs

Annual Report on Form 10-K and related

financial statement schedules for the
year

ended December 31 2008 filed with the

Securities and Exchange Commission by

visiting our website www.memc.com

writing
MEMCs Investor Relations

Department or by calling 636 474-5000

CERTIFICATIONS

The New York Stock Exchange NYSE
requires that our Chief Executive Officer

file an annual certificate indicating that he

is unaware of any violations of the NYSE

listing standards This certification was

executed without qualification by our Chief

Executive Officer in May2008 and filed

after our 2008 annual meeting of stock

holders In addition the Chief Executive

Officer and Chief Financial Officer filed

certifications with the SEC regarding

the quality of our public disclosure These

certifications can be found as Exhibits 31.1

and 31.2 to our Form 10-K for the fiscal

year
ended December 31 2008

FINANCIAL INFORMATION
MEMC maintains home page on the

Internet at www.memc.com where we

publish information including earnings

releases other news releases and signifi

cant corporate disclosures

INVESTOR RELATIONS

Analyst and investor inquiries should be

directed to

Bill Michalek

Director Investor Media Relations

MEMC Electronic Materials Inc

501 Pearl Drive City of OFallon

St Peters Missouri 63376

Tel 636 474-5000

Fax 636 474-5158

Email invest@memc.com

STOCK PRICE PERFORMANCE GRAPH

The graph at right compares cumulative

total stockholder return with the cumula

tive total return assuming reinvestment

of dividends of the SP 500 Index

and the SP 500 Semiconductors Index

The information on the graph covers the

period from December 31 2003 through

December 31 2008 The stock price

performance shown on the graph is not

necessarily indicative of future stock

price performance

Prepared by Standard and Poors Comp ustat 2/23/09
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